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PROPOSED PRECEDENTIAL DECIStON - In the Matter of the 
SUBJECT Accusation Against Jill Siren Meoni, M.D.; Case No. 10-2007-185857; 

OAH No. 2008100753 

In accordance with the procedure adopted by the Division of Medical Quality in July 2004 
(Exhibit 1), the Office of the Attorney General has recommended that one portion of the 
above-captioned decision be designated as precedential. The executive director, chief of 
enforcement and I all agree with this recommendation. 

Procedural Background 

Dr. Meoni ("respondent") was the recipient of an Accusation. The matter was heard before 
Administrative Law Judge Donald P. Cole, who submitted a Proposed Decision to the 
Medical Board of California ("Board") on July 7, 2009. A panel of the board non-adopted 
that decision and later granted reconsideration to change several footnotes to ensure 
consistency in all parts of the decision. 

Facts/Findings of the Case 

The facts of the case are not themselves relevant to the current request since the portion of 
the decision sought to be designated as precedential relates to the interpretation of 
Business and Professions Code Section 2334. Section 2334 governs the exchange of 
information regarding expert witnesses and provides as follows: 

"(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, with respect to the use of expert 
testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert testimony shall 
be permitted by any party unless the following information is exchanged in written form with 
counsel for the other party, as ordered by the Office of Administrative Hearings: 

(1) A curriculum vitae setting forth the qualifications of the expert. 

CONFIDENTIAL - PRIVILEGED 
ATTORNEY CLIENT COMMUNICATION AND WORK PRODUCT 

DO NOT PLACE IN PUBLIC FILES 189 



(2) A brief narrative statement of the general substance of the testimony that the 
expert is expected to give, including any opinion testimony and its basis. 

(3) A representation that the expert has agrned to testify at the hearing. 
(4) A statement of the expert's hourly and daily fee for providing testimony and for 

consulting with the party who retained his or her services. 
(b) The exchange of the information described in subdivision (a) shall be completed 
at least 30 calendar days prior to the commencement date of the hearing. 
(c) The Office of Administrative Hearings may adopt regulations governing the 
required exchange of the information described in this section. 

The key issue relates to a motion by complainant (the Board's executive director) to 
exclude expert testimony for violation of section 2334. The administrative law judge 
found that respondent had violated the requirements of section 2334 by failing to 
provide the expert witness disclosure within 30 calendar days prior to the 
commencement of the hearing and by failing to provide "a brief narrative statement 
of the general substance of the testimony that the expert is expected to give, 
including any opinion testimony and its basis." Nonetheless, the administrative law 
judge declined to apply the statutory remedy of excluding the expert testimony. The 
administrative law judge construed section 2334 as affording both OAH and the 
administrative law judge a measure of discretion with regard to the remedy for 
noncompliance to be applied in a given case, depending on the totality of the 
circumstances. 

Portions of Decision to be Designated as Precedential 

The recommendation is that only the following portion of the decision be designated as 
precedential: 

Motion in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony (Conclusions of Law Nos. 5 through 
14, inclusive)-pages 36 to 45. 

If the Board approves the request to designate the above portion of the decision as 
precedential, those portions not accepted for publ1ication will be redacted and replaced with 
asterisks. Exhibit 2 is the redacted version of the decision and is what those viewing the 
precedent decision would see. Exhibit 3 is the decision in its entirety. 

Rationale 

16 Cal. Code Regs. 1364.40(a) authorizes the division to designate, as a precedent 
decision, "any decision or part of any decision that contains a significant legal or policy 
determination of general application that is likely to recur." 

Expert witnesses are necessary in every quality of care case; therefore the issue presented 
in this case is very likely to be a recurring issue. In its decision (Conclusion of Law No. 9, 
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page 39), the board agreed with both the administrative law judge and with complainant 
about the critical need for guidance in interpreting section 2334 in order to carry out the 
purpose for which that section was enacted. The board further stated that it "intends to 
convey its interpretation of that section in this decision." That interpretation is not binding 
on administrative law judges unless it is designated as a precedential decision. 

The portion of the decision proposed to be designated as precedent contain significant 
legal determinations and would provide guidance to counsel for respondent and 
complainant as well as guidance to the Office of Administrative Hearings. 

Attachments 
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BEFORE THE 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation 
Against 

JILL SIREN MEONI, M.D. 

Physician's and Surgeon's 
Certificate No. A 55229 -------------------

OAH No. 2008100753 

MBC Case No. 10-2007-185857 

PRECEDENTIAL DECISION 
No. MBC-2011-01 DMQ

' -

DESIGNATION AS PRECEDENTIAL DECISION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 11425.60, the Medical Board of California 
hereby designates as precedential that portion of the decision listed below in the 
Matter of the Accusation against Jill Siren Meoni: 

Motion in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony (Conclusions of 
Nos. 5 through 14, inclusive)-pages 36 to 45 

This precedential designation shall be effective January 28, 2011. 

IT ORDERED this 28th day of January, 1.. 

BARBARA YAROSLA VSKY, President 
Medical Board of California 
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BEFORE THE 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Case No. 10-2007-185857 

JILL SIREN MEONI, M.D., 

In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

OAH No. 2008100753 

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. 
A 55229, 

Respondent. 

DECISION AFTER RECONSIDERATION 

******* 

Motion in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony 

5. On May 7, 2009, complainant filed a motion in limine seeking "to exclude the 
expert testimony of each of respondent's six expert witnesses, on the grounds that respondent has 
violated the mandatory expert witness disclosure requirements of [Business and Professions 
Code] section 2334." The motion was based primarily on the following arguments: (i) Contrary 
to the requirements of section 2334, respondent's expert witness disclosure did not occur at least 
30 calendar days before the commencement of the hearing; and (ii) the mandatory penalty for the 
failure to comply on a timely basis with the requirements of section 2334 is the automatic 
exclusion of the offending party's expert testimony. Complainant also contended that: (iii) 
Respondent's expert disclosures failed to comply with the requirements of section 2334 in other 
respects than timeliness (e.g., the description of the expected testimony ofrespondent's experts); 
and (iv) respondent's various failures to comply with the requirements of section 2334 were 
highly prejudicial to complainant's ability to prepare for the hearing. 

6. Respondent has violated the requirements of section 2334 in two respects. First, 
respondent failed to provide its expert witness disclosure within 30 calendar days prior to the 
commencement of the hearing. On March 5, 2009, OAH granted respondent's motion to 
continue the hearing, and set the hearing to commence on May 14, 2009. Based on that hearing 
date, and pursuant to section 2334, subdivision (a), expert witness disclosure was to be made no 
later than April 14, 2009. Respondent did not, however, make her formal disclosure until April 
30, 2009. 1 For purposes of the motion in limine, respondent's disclosure is deemed to have been 

1 The analysis that follows focuses on respondent's formal expert witness disclosure of 
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16 days late. 2 It is thus concluded that respondent's disclosure was untimely. 

Second, respondent failed, as to two of its experts, to provide "a brief narrative statement 
of the general substance of the testimony that the expert is expected to give, including any 
opinion testimony and its basis." Complainant argued essentially that the descriptions provided 
in respondent's disclosure were not adequate to meaningfully inform complainant of the actual 
substance of the expected testimony ofrespondent's experts, including the experts' actual 
opinions and the bases therefor. Complainant's argument is rejected with regard to William 
Umansky and Luis Becerra. The description of the expected testimony of these individuals as set 
forth in respondent's disclosure did not constitute the kind of testimony that is typically 
considered "expert testimony," i.e., as described, it did not consist of formal expert opinions, but 
instead involved the physician's course of care of respondent. 3 As such, such testimony is 
properly characterized as percipient witness testimony, not expert testimony per se.4 On the 
other hand, the description of the expected testimony of Frank Tiffany and David Sheffner 
clearly involved, at least in part, the rendering of genuine expert opinions. The description of 
their testimony adequately set forth the general substance of the testimony, including opinion 
testimony,5 but did not set forth any "basis" for such opinion testimony, and thus fails to comply 
with section 2334.6 

April 30, 2009. On April 16, 2009, respondent served a Final Witness and Exhibit List. This list 
may be viewed as constituting respondent's initial expert witness disclosure. Under either view, 
based on the reasoning set forth below, violations of section 2334 would be found, though the 
violations would differ to a certain extent. For example, respondent did not disclose the fee to be 
charged by all of her experts until April 30. 

2 On April 16, 2009, Presiding Administrative Law Judge Alan R. Alvord issued a 
prehearing conference order, in which the parties were ordered to exchange the information 
required by section 2334 by April 30, 2009. Complainant objected to that portion of the order 
and contended in her in limine motion that OAH lacked the authority to grant additional time 
within which to make a section 2334 disclosure after the 30-day deadline had already passed. 
For the purposes of ruling on the in limine motion, it is assumed arguendo that the disclosure was 
to be made on April 14, 2009, notwithstanding the prehearing conference order. 

3 Indeed, the testimony of these two physicians, as described above, was limited to issues 
directly relating to the course of care, and did not constitute expert opinion testimony. 

4 In the absence of any statutory, regulatory or judicial guidance as to the meaning of 
"expert testimony," recourse is taken to the somewhat analogous use of expert testimony in civil 
cases pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 2034. 

5 Complainant's contention that the disclosures provide insufficient detail to permit 
complainant to prepare to meet the testimony of respondent's experts at the hearing was 
unpersuasive. Absent any guidance-both for respondent and for the administrative law judge­
as to how "brief' the required narrative statement may be, it is not appropriate to construe that 
adjective in an unduly narrow fashion that would in effect constitute a trap for the unwary. 

6 Since respondent's other two experts, Christine Baser and Steven Rudolph, did not 
testify at the hearing, it is not necessary to address the adequacy of respondent's disclosures of 
their testimony. 
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7. In light of the conclusion that respondent has violated section 2334, the remedy 
for respondent's violations must now be addressed. The Administrative Law Judge denied the 
motion in limine and rejected exclusion of the expert testimony on the grounds that section 2334 
affords both OAH and the administrative law judge a measure ofdiscretion with regard to the 
remedy for non-compliance to be applied in a given case, depending on the totality of the 
circumstances. 

8. The administrative law judge determined that exclusion of respondent's expert 
witness testimony would not further the apparent legislative purpose of the statute, but would 
instead undermine the interests ofjustice, and based this conclusion on the following 
considerations. 

First, with regard to the timeliness ofdisclosure, even though formal disclosure did not 
occur until April 30, the identity ofrespondent's six experts, and at least a short description of 
the subject matter of their expected testimony, was provided on April 16, 2009, i.e., just two days 
after the April 14 deadline. 

Second, in the absence of clear guidance as to what level of detail satisfies the "brief 
narrative statement" requirement of section 2334, great caution and restraint is appropriate 
before excluding expert testimony based on a finding that a proffered description did not 
constitute an adequate "brief narrative statement." 

Third-and closely related to the preceding point-complainant did not place respondent 
on notice prior to filing the motion in limine of the alleged inadequacy ofrespondent's 
disclosure. 

Fourth, complainant did not establish prejudice by virtue of either the untimeliness or the 
inadequacy of respondent's disclosures. 

Fifth, no evidence was presented that respondent's failure fully to comply with section 
2334 was in bad faith, i.e., constituted a conscious attempt to "hide the ball" or otherwise 
circumvent proper disclosure. 

Sixth, the administrative law judge presumed that the ultimate decision maker in this 
case, the Medical Board of California, would desire to have all relevant evidence available for its 
consideration, so that it can make the most well-informed and appropriate decision possible in 
this very important matter. 

9. In her written argument and during oral argument, complainant asked the board to 
reverse the decision denying the motion in limine, exclude expert testimony as a result of that 
reversal, and, in the decision itself, designate its decision as a precedent decision. The board 
denies these requests for the following reasons. 

First, as required by law, the board has read all of the expert testimony in question as part 
of its review of the record and therefore does not believe it is appropriate, fair or equitable at this 
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stage of the proceedings to attempt to "unring the bell." 

Second, there is a process set out in regulation (Title 16 CCR section 1364.40) for 
designating precedent decisions and complainant's request is inconsistent with that process. 
Complainant may certainly renew her request in the manner prescribed in that regulation. 

The board does agree with both the administrative law judge and with complainant about 
the critical need for guidance in interpreting Business and Professions Code Section 2334, in 
order to carry out the purpose for which that section was enacted, and intends to convey its 
interpretation of that section in this decision. 

10. Business and Professions Code section 2334 provides as follows: 

"( a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any party unless the following information is 
exchanged in written form with counsel for the other party, as ordered by the 
Office of Administrative Hearings: 

"(1) A curriculum vitae setting forth the qualifications of the expert. 

"(2) A brief narrative statement of the general substance of the testimony that 
the expert is expected to give, including any opinion testimony and its basis. 

"(3) A representation that the expert has agreed to testify at the hearing. 

"(4) A statement of the expert's hourly and daily fee for providing testimony 
and for consulting with the party who retained his or her services. 

"(b) The exchange of the information described in subdivision (a) shall be 
completed at least 30 calendar days prior to the commencement date of the 
hearing. 

"(c) The Office of Administrative Hearings may adopt regulations governing 
the required exchange of the information described in this section." 
(Stats. 2005, c. 674 (S.B. 231 ), § 14.) 

11. The board finds that Section 2334 governs the entire subject of expert witness 
disclosures in Medical Board cases, including the penalty to be imposed for failure to comply 
with the disclosure requirements by the statutory production deadline and therefore Section 2334 
prevails over any other provision of law, including provisions of the Administrative Procedure 
Act (APA). Evidence of this is found in the first sentence of section 2334, subdivision (a), which 
begins with the phrase: "Notwithstanding any other provision of law ..." This phrase is 
indicative of the Legislature's intent to have the provisions of section 2334 control 
notwithstanding the existence of other laws that might otherwise govern the subject. (See People 
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v. DeLaCruz (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 955, 963 [phrase "has been read as an express legislative 
intent to have the specific statute control despite the existence ofother law which might 
otherwise govern."].) 

12. A review of the legislative history of section 2334 confirms both the problem 
section 2334 was specifically enacted to address, as well as the legislative intent to place a 
mandatory obligation on the parties to make the required disclosures by the statutory deadline in 
order to promote, rather than defeat, its underlying public policy. In her Initial Report to the 
Legislature, the Medical Board's Enforcement Monitor7 described the problems that result from 
defense counsel's failure to disclose the opinions of their experts as follows: 

"As described above, MBC requires its experts to reduce their expert opinions to 
writing- and those expert opinions are immediately discoverable by the defense. 
However, defense counsel frequently instruct their experts not to reduce their 
opinions to writing so the HQE DAG has no idea of the substance ofdefense 
counsel's expert opinion until that expert takes the stand at the evidentiary 
hearing. 

"This practice results in the unfair 'sandbagging' of the DAG at the hearing, and 
stifles the possibility of prehearing settlement. Although true bilateral discovery 
is not a feature of administrative hearings under the Administrative Procedure 
Act, the general discovery principle of eliminating undue litigation surprise is a 
public policy with important application here. The expert medical opinions in 
these MBC administrative hearings go to the heart of the Board's case and are 
partly or entirely dispositive of the result. Litigation surprise regarding this 
central element of the administrative action disserves all parties to the process and 
the public interest as a whole." 

(Initial Report, Medical Board of California Enforcement Program Monitor, prepared by 
Julianne D'Angelo Fellmeth and Thomas A. Papageorge, dated November 1, 2004, at pp. 160-
161.) 

In the wake of the Enforcement Monitor's Initial Report, Senate Bill 231, as amended, 
included a new statute specifically designed to address this problem. That statute, as originally 
introduced, provided that: 

"2334. Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 

7. Business and Professions Code section 2220.1 provided for the appointment of a "Medical Board 
Enforcement Program Monitor" to monitor and evaluate "the disciplinary system and procedures of the board, 
making as his or her highest priority the reform and reengineering of the board's enforcement program and 
operations and the improvement of the overall efficiency of the board's disciplinary system." (Added by Stats. 
2002, c. 1085, (Sen. Bill No. 1950), § 18; repealed by Stats. 2004, c. 909 (Sen. Bill No. 136), § 3, operative Jan. 1, 
2006.) 
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testimony shall be pennitted by any party unless a detailed written report by the 
expert witness, including findings and conclusions of the expert witness, is 
exchanged by the parties in advance of the hearing. The Office of Administrative 
Hearings shall adopt regulations in consultation with the Medical Board of 
California governing the required exchange ofexpert testimony in these 
proceedings." (Sen. Bill No. 231 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended in 
Assembly on June 13, 2005.) 

Thus, as original introduced, the Legislature only required that the disclosure be made "in 
advance of the hearing." As the bill moved through the legislative process, the Legislature 
amended section 2334, never losing sight of its objective to compel the timely production of 
information regarding expert witnesses. For example, the Legislature eliminated the requirement 
that "a detailed written report" be produced and, instead, required only that the expert testimony 
be "reduced to writing by the expert witness, including findings and conclusions of the expert 
witness, ..." Thus, as later amended in the Assembly, section 2334 then provided: 

"2334. Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board ofCalifornia, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any party unless a detailed writteH report it is 
reduced to writing by the expert witness, including findings and conclusions of 
the expert witness, is exchanged by the parties in advance of the hearing. The 
Office ofAdministrative Hearings shaH adopt regulations in consultation with the 
Medical Board ofCalifornia governing the required exchange ofexpert testimony 
in these proceedings." (Sen. BiJI No. 231 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as 
amended in Assembly on July 11, 2005.) 

Then, on August 30, 2005, the Legislature abandoned the requirement that the disclosure 
simply be made "in advance of the hearing" and, instead, established a specific statutory deadline 
for the production. In this regard, section 2334, as amended, stated: 

"2334. (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, with respect to the use of expert 
testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert testimony shall be 
permitted by any party unless it is reduoed to writiag hy the eKpert vAtness, ineh:1ding findings 
and oonolusions of the eKpert witness, aad it is eKchanged by the parties in ad't•anoe of the 
hearing. The Offioe ofl\dministrative Hearings shaJl adept regHlations in oonsuhation with the 
Medioal BoB:Fd of California goYeming the required eKohange of eKpert testimony in these 
proeeedings. the following i~formation is exchanged in written form with counsel for the other 
party, as ordered by the Office ofAdministrative Hearings: 

(1) A curriculum vitae setting forth the qualifications ofthe e.xpert. 

(2) A briefnarrative statement ofthe general substance ofthe testimony the expert is 
expected to give, including any opinion testimony and its basis. 

(3) A representation that the expert has agreed to testify at the hearing. 
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(4) A statement ofthe expert's hourly and daily fee for providing testimony and for 
consulting with the party how retained his or her services. 

(b) The exchange ofthe iriformation described in subdivision (a) shall be completed at 
least 30 calendar days prior to the commencement date ofthe hearing. 

(c) The Office ofAdministrative Hearings may adopt regulations governing the required 
exchange ofthe information described in this section. " 
(Sen. Bill No. 231 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 12, as amended in Assembly on August 30, 2005.) 

This would remain the statutory production deadline throughout the remainder of the 
legislative process (see Sen. Bill No. 235 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended on 
September 2, 2005) and ultimate approval by the Governor on October 7, 2005 (see Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 2334). Thus, subsequent amendments to Senate Bill 231 confirm the Legislature's 
explicit rejection of the requirement that the expert witness disclosures be made simply "in 
advance of the hearing" and, instead, its intention that such disclosures shall be made "at least 30 
calendar days prior to the commencement date of the hearing." (Cf. Cooper v. Swoap (1974) 11 
Cal.3d 856, 864-865 [Legislature's direct consideration and explicit rejection of proposal to 
reduce grants of AFDC recipients sharing housing with an adult aid recipient an "unambiguous 
indicant oflegislative intent"]; see also Martin v. Szeto (2004) 32 Cal.4th 445,450 [subsequent 
amendments to bill cited as clarifying legislative intent].) 

Permitting OAH to order the required expert witness disclosures to be made less than 30 
calendar days prior to commencement of the hearing was included in an earlier version of Senate 
Bill 231 that was explicitly rejected by the Legislature and, thus, to permit it now would be 
entirely inconsistent with legislative intent. Cooper v. Swoap (1974) 11 Cal.3d 856, 864-
865 [Legislature's direct consideration and explicit rejection of proposal to reduce grants of 
AFDC recipients sharing housing with an adult aid recipient an "unambiguous indicant of 
legislative intent"].) 

13. The board finds that the obligation of both parties to make the required exchange 
of expert witness information by the statutory deadline set by the Legislature in section 2334 (b ), 
is mandatory, not merely directory. (Business and Professions Code Sections 8, 19) This is also 
consistent with case law: 

"... 'Time limits are usually deemed to be directory unless the Legislature clearly 
expresses a contrary intent.' (Id. at p. 1145.) For example, if the statute attaches 
consequences or penalties to the failure to observe time limits, the statute is 
construed as mandatory. (County ofSacramento v. Insurance Co. ofthe West 
(1983) 139 Cal.App.3d 561, 565-566; see also Edwards v. Steele, supra, 25 
Cal.3d at p.410.)" (Matus v. Board ofAdministration (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 
597, 608-609.) 

14. In the proposed decision, the administrative law judge construed section 2334 as 
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affording both OAH and the administrative law judge a measure of discretion with regard to the 
remedy for non-compliance to be applied in a given case, depending on the totality of the 
circumstances. 

(a) The board finds, using well-settled rules of statutory construction, that an 
interpretation granting discretion as to whether to impose the statutory remedy of exclusion is 
inconsistent with the legislative intent underlying the statute, would defeat (rather than promote) 
the statute's general purpose and would lead to absurd consequences. 

"In construing a statute, our fundamental task is to ascertain the Legislature's 
intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute. (Day v. City ofFontana 
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.) We begin with the language of the statute, giving 
the words their usual and ordinary meaning. (Ibid.) The language must be 
construed 'in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory 
scheme, and we give 'significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an 
act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." ' (People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.4th 
1266, 1276.) In other words, ' "we do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather 
read every statute 'with reference to the entire scheme oflaw of which it is part so 
that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.' [Citation.]" ' (In re 
Marriage ofHarris (2004) 34 Cal.4th 210, 222.) If the statutory terms are 
ambiguous, we may examine extrinsic sources, including the ostensible objects to 
be achieved and the legislative history. (Day, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272.) In 
such circumstances, we choose the construction that comports most closely with 
the Legislature's apparent intent, endeavoring to promote rather than defeat the 
statute's general purpose, and avoiding a construction that would lead to absurd 
consequences. (Ibid.)" (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) 

Section 2334, subdivision (a), states that: 

"(a) Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of expert 
testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any party unless the following information is 
exchanged in written form with counsel for the other party, as ordered by the 
Office ofAdministrative Hearings: ..." (Italics added.) 

The board finds that section 2334 is a self-executing statute in the sense that it applies in 
all Medical Board cases, regardless of whether OAH orders the parties to comply with its 
provisions or not. 8 In this regard, section 2334 is similar to a statute of limitations (see, e.g., 
Bus. & Prof. Code, § 2230.5) which applies whether or not the parties are ordered to comply 
with its provisions. 

8
. While OAH has reportedly begun the practice of routinely issuing orders requiring the parties to comply 

with the provisions of section 2334, issuance of such orders are not required since section 2334 is otherwise 
applicable in Medical Board cases, regardless of whether OAH orders the parties to comply or not. Such orders do, 
however, serve a useful purpose by helping to ensure that section 2334 does not become a trap for the unwary. 

8 

200 



To interpret the phrase "as ordered by the Office of Administrative Hearings" as 
requiring an OAH order before the statute could apply in Medical Board cases would violate the 
general rules of statutory construction cited above. It would also lead to the absurd consequence 
of section 2334 applying in those Medical Board cases where OAH has issued an order requiring 
compliance with its provisions but not to those cases where OAH has not issued such an order. 

Here, the phrase "as ordered by the Office of Administrative Hearings" is more 
appropriately read as referring to an order from OAH prohibiting expert testimony offered by a 
party whenever it has been determined that the party has failed to comply with the expert witness 
disclosure requirements of section 2334 by the statutory deadline. Without such an order from 
OAH, the statutory penalty fixed by the Legislature for violation of section 2334 could never be 
imposed. This reading is also consistent with other prescribed duties and responsibilities of 
administrative law judges under the AP A, including those provisions requiring an administrative 
law judge to issue orders and decisions. (See, e.g., Gov. Code,§§ 11511.5, subd. (e) ["The 
administrative law judge shall issue a prehearing conference order incorporating the matters 
determined at the prehearing conference."]; and 11517 ["ff a contested case is originaHy heard 
by an administrative law judge alone, he or she shall prepare ... a proposed decision in a form 
that may be adopted by the agency as the final decision in the case."].) The Legislature was 
presumed to be aware of existing law (here, the authority of an administrative law judge to issue 
orders) when it required an order from OAH to impose the statutorily required penalty for failure 
to comply with the requirements of section 2334. (People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 775) 

(b) "The most basic principle of statutory construction is that courts must give effect 
to statutes according to the ordinary import of the language used in framing them." (People v. 
Herman (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1369, 1380-1381, internal quotes and citation omitted.) "If there 
is no ambiguity in the language of the statute, then the Legislature is presumed to have meant 
what it said, and the plain meaning of the language governs." (Id., at p. 13 81, internal quotes and 
citations omitted.) Here, there is no ambiguity regarding the penalty to be imposed for a 
violation of section 2334. The Legislature has made a policy choice to fix that penalty as 
exclusion of the expert testimony. 

The board finds that OAH lacks the authority to refuse to impose the legislatively 
mandated penalty of exclusion where a party has failed to comply with the requirements of 
section 2334. Whenever it has been determined that a party in a Medical Board case has violated 
the expert witness disclosure requirements of section 2334, either by failing to disclose the 
information specified in section 2334, subdivision (b), and/or failing to make the required 
disclosures by the statutory deadline contained in section 2334( c), section 2334(a) requires that 
an order be issued prohibiting that party from presenting the proffered expert testimony in the 
case. 

9
. Administrative disciplinary proceedings that are commenced by the issuance of an interim order of 

suspension (ISO) under Government Code section 11529 constitute an exception to the otherwise applicable 
provisions of section 2334. In ISO cases, the filing of the accusation and subsequent hearing are necessarily 
expedited (Gov. Code, § 1 I 529, subd. (f)) and, as a result, the hearing may be scheduled such that is impossible for 
the parties to comply with the expert witness disclosure requirements of section 2334 by the statutory deadline set 

9 
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The board notes that the conclusion expressed above applies equally to both complainant 
and respondent. Based upon its review of record (Exh. 29 in particular), the board urges both 
parties in future cases to be diligent in fully complying with Section 2334 in order to fulfill the 
purposes of the statute. 

What constitutes compliance with Section 2334(a)(2)? Merely listing topics or subjects 
that the expert witness will testify about, without disclosing the general substance of expert's 
anticipated testimony, the actual expert opinions he/she will testify to, and the basis for each of 
those opinions, is plainly insufficient and would clearly violate the statutory requirements of 
section 2334. A "brief narrative statement" of the "general substance" of the expert's testimony 
means a short narrative statement that provides the main features of the testimony-the essential 
nature of the testimony to be proffered. The statement must include any opinion to be presented 
and the basis for that opinion. By way of example as to what is not acceptable, taken from the 
record in this matter: A party merely states (see Exh. 29) that an expert will testify "whether 
Respondent can practice medicine safely, and whether the circumstances surrounding 
Respondent's use ofmedication constituted general unprofessional conduct as alleged." This 
narrative does not state what expert opinion will actually be proffered (i.e. that respondent can 
practice medicine safely and that respondent's use ofmedication is not general unprofessional 
conduct). Nor does it describe whatsoever the basis for that opinion. This is simply insufficient. 

******* 

This decision shall become effective at 5 p.m. on June 7, 2010. 

IT IS SO ORDERED this 6th day of May, 2010. 

HEDY CHANG, Chairperson 
Panel B, Medical Board of 
California 

section subdivision (c). Co1np1iance with section 2234 is excused \vhen it is impossible to (See 
e.g., McKenzie v. Thousand Oaks ( 1973) 36 Cal.App.3d 426, 430 Icompliance with procedural statute may 

or fotik" to complyj.) 
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Di!pal'tmffl t of eoo....m ... Affai ... 

Memorandum 
To Carlos Ramirez, Asst. DAG Date: July 28, 2004 

Tom RemyJ DAG 
Mary Agnes Matys:z:ewski, DAG 
Health Quality Enforcement Section 
Office of the Attorney General 

From ~nak 
Chief, Enforcement Program 

Subject: Precedential Decisions Revised Procedures 

As a follow~up to our meeting on July 21, 2004. with DCA Legal Counsel Anita Scuri, 
Board Counsel Nancy Vedera, Interim Executive Director Dave Thornton and me, the 
attached Precedent Decision Pro.cedure was revised. I believe it incorporates all the 
,...ff..,,,..,.rt suggestions and will serve as a guide for Board staff as decisions are selected for 
precedential designation. 

Thank you all for your assistance. 

203 



JUL-22-2010 11:50 LEGAL AFF A IRS P.003 

PRECEDENT DECISION PROCEDURE 

July 2004 

Introduction 

The purpose of this policy is to establish a procedure for identifying potential 
precedential decisions and reviewing and acting 1.1pon recommendations to 
designate decisions as precedentlal. Under the Administrative Procedure Act 
(APA) a decision that contains a significant legal or policy determination of 
general application that is likely to recur may be designated as precedential. 
(See Government Code (GC) Section 1142 S.60; Attachment l) Onc;;e a decision 
is designated as precedential 1 the Division of Medical Quality (hereinafter 
"Divisionn) may rely on it, and parties may cite to such decision in their 
argument to the Division and courts. Furthermore, it helps ensure consistency 
in decision-making by institutionalizing rulings that the Board feels reflects its 
position on various issues. The Division has adopted section 1364.401 Title 16, 
Ca.llfornia Code of Regulations, to implement its authority to designate 
decisions as precedentlal. 

S ep 1 ; td~ tl~t.l.filEL~ 

A decision or part of a decision that contains significant legal or pollcy 
determination of general application that is lik~ly to recur may be 
recommended for designation as a precedential decision. Section 11 42 5.60 
does not preclude the Board from designating as precedential a decision that 
is already in effect. The recommendation shaU be made to Board Counsel, 
giving the reasons why the person believes the decision meets the criteria to 
be designated as a precedentlal decision. Their recommendation shall be 
accompanied by a copy of the decision. 

Step 2: Review of RecommendatiQn 

If the Executive Director, after consultation with the Chief of Enforcement and 
the Board Counsel, concludes that the Division should consider the decision for 
precedential designation, the matter will be placed on the Division's agenda 
for action. The agenda serves as public notice that the Division will consider 
the decision as a precedential decision. 
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Steo 3: Prep:JfflUQfQ[ Board Re~ew 

Board Counsel wHI then prepare orwiUa,rrangewtththe appropriate staff to 
prepare the precedential designatfon pro'pisaf for presentation to the Division 
for review and consideration. 

The Board's Discipline Coordination Unit shall maintain a log of the decisions 
proposed to the Division for precedential designation. The log shall show the 
date of the Board meeting, decision number•. respondenfs name, a general 
description of the legal or policy issue, and whether the precedential decision 
was approved or not. A copy of the Board Counsel memorandum and minutes 
of the Board meeting (when the decision was discussed) will be maintained with 
the log. 

If the Division adopts a decision as precedential, it will be assigned a 
precedential designation number. The precedential designation number shall 
begin with "MBC" and uses the calendar year and sequential numbering 
beginning with "0l" for each year, followed by lettering for the Division 
designating the decision, DMQ (Division of Medical Quality) and DOL (Division 
of Ucensing), (i.e., MBC-2004-01-DMQ for year 2004). 

Step 4: Designation of a Pr:ecedenti.iJ Decision 

Board Counsel will prepare an order designating the decision, or portion(s) of 
the decision, as prec:edential for signature by the Division President. The 
effective date is the date the date the d~cision was designated as a 
precedential decision. (See Attachment 2 for an example of a Designation as 
Precedential Decision.) 

Board Counsel wlll send a copy of the signed Designation as a. Precedential 
Decislont includlng a copy of the decision, to the Office of Administrative 
Hearings. {The Office of Administrative Hearings maintains a file of 
precedentlal designations for reference by Administrative Law Judges.) 

Ste~ s: Indexing 

Under Government Code section 11425.60(c), the Division is required to 
maintain an index of significant legal and policy determinations made In 
precedential decisions. The Board's Discipline Coordination Unit will maintain 
the index. 
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The index shall divided into three sections (Attachment 3) : 

1) Decisions by fiscal year, including: the precedentral designation 
number, the respondent's name, the MBC case number, the OAH 
case number and the ntial designation date (effective 
date). 

2) Subject matter, followed by a general description of legal and/or 
policy issue, the precedential designation number and the 
respondent's name. 

3) Code section number, followed by a general description of the 
section, the precedential designation number and the respondent's 
name. 

NOTE: As decisions are added to the index, an asterisk will be entered 
after the cases, showing if they were appealed to the Superior Court, 
Court of Appeals or Supreme Court. Two asterisks following the 
will reflect the case was reversed as a precedential decision by the 
Board. 

A copy of each precedentia! designation shall be maintained with the index 
and on the Board's website. The Index shall be updated every time a decision 
is designated as precedential. The index is a public record, available for 
public inspection and copying. It shall be made available to the public by 
subscription and its availability shall be published annually in the California. 
Regulatory Notice Register. Each January, Board staff wlll submit the index to 

Office of Administrative Law for publication in the California Regulatory 
Notice Register. 

Step 6: Reversal of Precede11tlal Designation 

The Executive Director, after consultatlon with the Chief of Enforcement and 
Board Counsel, may recommend that the Division reverse its designation of all 
or portion{s) of the precedential designation on a decision. The matter will 
then be placed on agenda for action, Board Counsel will prepare or 
arrange with the appropriate staff to prepare the order, "Reversal of 
Precedential Designation," (Attachment 4). Board Counsel will then send a 
copy of the signed Reversal of Precedential Designation, including a copy of 
the decision to the Office of Administrative Hearings. 
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§ 11425.60. Decisions relied on as precedents 
(a) A decision may not be ,expressly relied on as precedent unless lt is 
designated as a precedent decision by the agency, 
(b) A.n agency mS¥ designate as a precedent decision a decision or part of a 
decision that contains a significant legal or policy determination of general 
appllcstion that is likely to recur. Designation of a decision or part of a decision 
as a precedent decision is not rulemak.ing :and .need not be done under Chapter 
3.5 (commencing with Section 11340). An ag•ncy's d$sjgnation of a decision or 
part of a decision, or failure ta designate a decision or part of a decision, as a 
precedent decision is not s_ubject to Judicial review. 
{c) An agency shall maintain an rndex of significant legal and policy 
determinations made in precedent decisions. The index shall be updated not 
less frequently than annually, unless no precedent decigion has been 
designated since the last preceding update .. The index shaft be made available 
to the public by subsc:riptiont and its availab1Uty shall be publicized annuaUy in 
the California Regulatory Notice Register. 
(d) This section aj:;)plies to decisions issued on or after July 1, 1997. Nothing in 
this section precludes an agency from designating and inde:dng as a precedent 
decision a decision Issued before July 1, 1997. 

HISTORY; 
Add11C1 Slalll 1Q95 ell ;sa §21 (SS 523), opo,atlve J\lfy 1, 1997; Amenellld by Sllnll 1996 ch 390 §6 (SB 7;...i), operatlvo 

Julyt, 1997. . · • 
Added "Md ll'ldulng" ln subel (d'), 
I.Jim Rtvlalon Comn'IIU!on Ccirrm,mts: 
1Q!lS_Sadlon 1,425.80 llmlltl the authoilty of an agency to mly cm !)J'IMOU\. d'llcl'6lona unln6 tht dl,cillonfl h11v111 bNn publiely 
1'11'\00unocd all p~ntliil. 
The first~ or.111.1bdMabri \b) ~ h nee.a Df tigenckis to lliD lll:ilm to make law arid l)Olley thrcugh atiJ!JdQtlon n 
W'IIII! H lh=gh l'llklmlklng. It eodlnos ttie p~of II number of ai:,anc!M to demgna lmporu,nt dee!~ u pn,~ 
Set Seetlors 12!l35(h) (Falr Em~ and HOIIB!ns Commlulon), 19582.5 (Slate P!ilfflOl'lnel Bolrd'): Uni,mp. IM, Cede 
409 (Unamployment ln9Ur1111'1e11 Appaals Boal'd). Section 11425.50 la lnl8ndod to o~e aglll'loie11: to artlcUl!M What they 
itro dO!ng 'M'IM !hoy make nlllW blW Ill!' polloy In 11n adjudl~ ~I\, An l!Qtl'le)' may not by ~f\t d!l(:i&lcn rwlMr or 
illl'Mnd 11n eldt-tlng 1'1191.dation 01' adopt.a n.ile lhlll tin !'10 •~ l,;IQi..latlw bllulll, 
Umltlr OIO 1e,ocnd aente~ 0f aubdll/la!Dl'I (b), lhlil MQtlon appb~ng·aea&n , 1:.WC.5 ("uridtrground 
regu\ttklnaj. Sft 1!i'lliG OAI. Oet No.1 (~rmlrlllltlon by Offloe of A~• l!:!wbt e;ency dlllslgnatlon of d!IIClalon u 
p~l vlolatn former Qowmfl')lnt Code ~ 11347.s lr-.ow 11340.5} 1,11'HW !'iW:19 pumiant to Nllll'l'laldng 
Pf'l)OOC!Ur.). Toe provltilon l11dl"llW!'I m:im ~~ ~ 111582.5 (~aamp!lng !he $bate ?lllnlOtl!'\61 
BCllll'\fe ~ ciecltll011 ~ from !1.llam1llklng pm::eou,w). Sealao Uoemp. Ins. COde 4()liJ (UM~ 
tnlllral'leitl ~ bl'd). ~-. lllll9flOIM IU'II Cll'l(;l:lYl'ilgod to iJXl}l"IIU p~l'II ~ In the r!lll'ffl of regul81ion111, 
to th& ~ pr&11~ble. 
Ttlie ll'ldel( f&ql.llrel:I by'll.lbdlvilloo (o) It II pubUQ teeorti, 21>11tbble for p.ll)llo In~Md copyln9. 
Subdlvlllrlon (d) mln\ml:zafl, the potential l:,urdeln en agcndl58 by m•ldrlg TM precadlll'lt dclei$1i:m requlrertiernB p~d1vc only. 
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SAMPLE 

BBFOR.ETHE 
DIVISION OF MEDICAL QUALITY 

MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation 
Against: 
NAME 

Physician's and Surgeon•s 
Certificate No. 

Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

OAHNo. 

MBCCaseNo. 

PR.BCEDENTIAL DECISION 
No. MBC-2004-01-DMQ 

DESIGNATION AS APRECEDENTIAL DECISION 

Pursuant to Government Code Seoti,c:,It l!;:l2~~§(), tbe Divisi!:)lOfMedical Quality, Medical 
Board of California, hereby desi~gr ,. . .. No. MBC-2004-01-DMQ (or 
those sections ofthe decision listcd~low) m the Accusation Against NAME. 

1) Findings of'J;act~. 3-6; and 
2) Determination oflsst.es No. S. 

This prccedential designation shall be effective July 30, 2004. 

LORIE RICE, Presjdent 
Division ofMedical Quality 
Medical Board ofCalifornia 
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SAMPLE 

2004 

Medical Board of California 
Precedential Decisions 

Index 

vu,.... ,._,-.L,,JV'"T'-v 1-DMQ Ridgill, Edward, MBC Case No. 997..78021, 
OAH umoer E-123545, July 30, 2004 
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Medical Board of California 
Precedential Decisions 

2004 

by Subject Matter 

Petition for Penalty Relief 
Evidence of rehabilitation, or 
lack of, 2004-01-DMQ 

Rehabilitation 
Petitioner's burden, 2004-01--DMQ 

Business and Professions Code 

Section 2307 .. Modification or 
Termination of Probation -
2004-01-DMQ, Ridgill 
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SAMPLE 

BEFORE THE 
DMSION OF MEDICAL QUALITY 

MEDICAL BOARD OF CAllFORNlA 
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 

. STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation 
Against: 
NAME 

Physician's and Surgeon's 
Certificate No. 

Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

OAHNo. 

MBCCaseNo, 

PRECEDENTIAL DECISION 
No. MBC-2004-01-DMQ 

WITBDBAWAL QF PRECEDENTIAL DE~I~IQN 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 11425.60, the Djvision ofMedical Quality, Medical 
Board ofCaliforru~ hereby orders the withdrawal ofprecodential Decision No, DMQ-2004-01· 
DMQ (or those sections of the decision listed below) in the Matter of the Accusation Against 
NA.ME. . 

1) Findmgs ofFact Nos, 3-6; and 
2) Determination oflssuos No. S. 

The withdrawa1 of this precedential designation shall be effective July 30, 2005. 

LORIE RICE, President 
Division of Medical Quality 
Medical Board of California 
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BEFORE THE 
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Accusation Against: 

JILL SIREN MEONI, M.D., 

Physician's and Surgeon's Certificate No. 
A 55229, 

Respondent. 

Case No. 10-2007-185857 

OAH No. 2008100753 

DECISION AFTER RECONSIDERATION 

Donald P. Cole, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings,. State of 
California, heard this matter on May 14, 18, 19, 20, 26, 27, 28, 29 and June 1, 2009, in San 
Diego,_ California. 

Michael S. Cochrane, Deputy Attorney General, Department of Justice, State of 
California, represented complainant- Barbara Johnston, Executive Director, Medical Board of 
California (board or medical board), Department of Consumer Affairs, State of California. 

Steven H. Zeigen, Esq., Rosenberg, Shpall & Associates, APLC, represented respondent 
Jill Siren Meoni, M.D., who was present throughout the hearing. 

The matter was submitted on June 10, 2009. 1 

The proposed decision of the Administtmive Law Judge was sub1mtted to the Med:i:oal 
Board of California on July 7, 2009. After due oonsideration thereof, Panel! ofthe I3oard. 
(hereafter "Board") declined to adopt the prQposed decisiollandthereafteron October 5,2009, 
issued an Order of Nonadoption and subseqt1e11tb issued an Order FixingJ)ate for Submission of 
Written Argument. On De~ember 29, 20Of?l;the J3oanl issued a Notice of-Hearit1g for Oral 
Argument. Oral argument was heard on Jarn:i:rry28, 2010, and the Board voted on the matter that 
same day. 

The rssucd iL:< ; ion Aflcr \r,:1aduplion 011 h:brnary l 7, , lo beco111(· 
effective March 22, 2010. On \/E:rch 12,2010, ::omplainant fi:ed a Petitic:1 :or Reconsideration 
seeking a change to several foc,tnutes to ensu:-e consistency :n all parts of frie c:ecision. J\11 o:·der 
staying the decision until April l, 2010, was issued. A Nunc Pro Tune On:er ·vVas issued g:·anting 
r:.ccinsidcration ng tJ1;o vc elate he decisio1, ur1'.i] the b(X!i':i i:,sues it,,; 

1 See foo·:10te to Findi:1g 3. 

212 



After Reconsideration. Neither party requested oral argument. The time for filing written 
argument in this matter having expired, written argument having been filed by complainant and 
such written argument, together with the entire record, including the transcript of said heaiing, 
having been read and considered, pursuant to Government Code Section 1 1 51 7, the board hereby 
makes the following decision and order: 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

Jurisdictional Matters 

1. On November 15, 1995, the board issued to respondent Physician's and Surgeon's 
Certificate No. A 55229. The ce1iificate is renewed and current, with an expiration date of 
October 31, 2009. 

2. On September 15, 2008, complainant signed the accusation in her official 
capacity. The accusation and other required jurisdictional documents were served on respondent. 
On September 24, 2008, respondent executed and thereafter filed a notice of defense. 

3. On May 14, 2009, the record was opened and jurisdictional documents were 
received. On May 14, 18, 19, 20, 26, 27, 28, 29, and June 1, 2009, sworn testimony was given 
and documentary evidence was introduced. On June 1, 2009, closing arguments were presented. 
On June 10, 2009, the record was closed and the matter was deemed submitted. 2 

Introductory Matters 

4. Respondent served in the United States Navy Medical Corps from July 1990 to 
August 2003. She received several honors during her service. Respondent was discharged from 
the Navy in 2003, under circumstances set forth below. 

Respondent received her medical degree in 1994 from the Unifonned Services University 
of the Health Scierices in Bethesda, Maryland. She completed her internship at the Naval 
Hospital, Camp Pendleton, California in family practice in 1995, and her residency in radiology 
at the Naval Medical Center, San Diego, California, in 2002, where she served as Chief Resident 
in 2001 to 2002 and was an annual instructor of Radiology for the General Practitioner. 
Respondent was certified by the American Board of Radiology in 2002. 

2 During the hearing, the ALJ requested the parties to meet and confer in an effort to 
reach a written stipulation on certain specified matters. The record was left open at the 
conclusion of the hearing to pennit the parties additional time to reach the requested stipulation. 
By letter dated June 10, 2009, counsel for complainant advised the administrative law judge that 
the parties were unable to reach any factual stipulations. Based on the parties' asserted inability 
to reach such stipulations, the record was closed and the matter deemed submitted on 
June 10, 2009. 

2 
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In the fall of 2003, after her discharge from the Navy, respondent began working part­
time at Promise Hospital in San Diego as a contract physician. In June 2005, she was promoted 
to Director of Radiology, a position she held until August 2008, when she left Promise due to the 
facility's emerging practice of diverting work to an outside radiology company. 

In March 2004, respondent began working at Sharp Rees-Stealy in San Diego on a per 
diem basis. By the time the accusation was filed (September 2008), respondent was working at 
_Sharp two days per week on a regular basis, and also covered for other radiologists when they 
were unable to work due to illness or for other reasons. Respondent now works at Sharp on an 
inegular, as-needed basis. 

As a radiologist, respondent is engaged primarily in the review and interpretation of 
medical radiological images, produced by such processes as radiography and magnetic resonance 
imaging. At times, she also perfom1s "semi-hwasive procedures,>' such as anthrograms and 
superficial biopsies. 

5. The accusation set forth one cause for action and two causes for discipline. The 
cause for action alleged pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 8223 that respondent 
has a mental illness and/or physical illness affecting her ability to practice medicine safely. The 
first cause for discipline alleged pursuant to section 2239, subdivision (a) that respondent used 
prescription medication and/or alcohol to the extent, or in such a manner, as to be dangerous to 
herself, to others, or to the public, or to the extent that such .use impaired her ability to practice 
medicine safely. The second cause for discipline alleged pursuant to section 2234 that 
respondent engaged in unprofessional conduct by breaching the rules or ethical code of the 
medical profession, or by engaging in conduct unbecoming to a member in good standing of the 
profession, so as to demonstrate her unfitness to practice medicine._ 

All allegations arose out of events occurring primai;ly in the periods from December 
2002 to April 2003 and. from January to August 2007, and related to physical and mental 
·conditions of respondent (in particular migraine headaches, anxiety, and depression), and the 
prescription medications respondent used in an effort to alleviate the symptoms of those physical 
and mental conditions. 

December 2002 to April 2003 

6. During the period from December 2002 to April 2003, when the events described 
below took place, respondent was not practicing as a physician. 

7. Kathleen Flanigan, LC.S.W., has been a California licensed clinical social worker 
for about 25 years. Since 2000, she has worked at Sharp Mesa Vista Hospital (Mesa Vista) in 
that facility's Cognitive Intensive Outpatient Program (CIOP), as either a staff therapist or on a 
part-time per diem basis. 

3 All statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code, unless otherwise 
noted. 
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The CIOP is a program for persons with mood disorders (primarily anxiety and 
depression), and includes both a group therapeutic and an educational component. The focus of 
the program is to help people learn cognitive behavior techniques to help them control their 
moods. During the time period in question, Flanigan worked with Dr. Michael Ricciardi, a Mesa 
Vista staffpsychiatrist. 

Respondent was in the CIOP for about three months, attending on 62 dates from January 
5 to April 11, 2003.4 As far as Flanigan could recall at the hearing, respondent's diagnosis was 
major depression. 

During the course of respondent's participation in the CIOP,. Flanigan at times observed 
respondent to sleep through class sessions. 5 On January 29, 2003, respondent appeared 
"somnolent & appeared sedated. She denied (when screened) taking any extra or unprescribed 
meds. [She was] minimally participative." Respondent stated, "I had another bad night last 
night." Flanigan, together with the nurse (RN), determined that respondent should not be 
permitted to drive home that day. On February 3, 2003, respondent was "alternately attentive & 
drowsy.'; On February 19, 2003, respondent "explored her catastrophic thinking the day prior, 
after beginning to ruminate on elements of the diversion program for impaired physicians." As 
of February 12, 2003, it was Flanigan's overall evaluation that "Jill's progress in program has 
been quite rocky."6 On.March 18, 2003, respondent 41presented as somewhat sedated" and stated 
that she did not sleep well the previous night. Flanigan did not know whether respondent's 
sedation was the result ofmedication. 

8. Flanigan was aware that respondent's outpatient psychiatrist, Dr. Howard Hicks, 
believed that respondent was abusing her pain medication, and that respondent did not agree with 
Dr. Hicks~ assessment. Flanigan did not offer an opinion as to whether respondent did or did not 
abuse her medication. She testified that if she had had concems about respondent's ability to 
practice medicine, she would have recorded that in her chart notes. No such concern is there 
recorded. 

9. Flanigan testified in a professional, direct, objective, and careful manner. She did 
not appear to have any bias, or to overstate any of the matters about which she testified. 

4 Respondent was admitted to the CIOP several times in December 2002; on each such 
occasion, she was discharged from the program upon her inpatient admission to the hospital in 
connection with the episodes discussed below in this Proposed Decision. 

5 This paragraph is based on both Flanigan '13 testimony at the hearing and her therapy 
notes and other medical records she prepared. . 

6 Flanigan referred in connection with respondent's December 2002 inpatient 
hospitalizations to "the context of intense suicidal ideation and [that] patient at points took 
excessive medication." Flanigan testified that she did not recall what she meant by "excessive 
medication," and that nothing more may ha:ve been involved than the taking of one pill in excess 
of what was prescribed. 

4 
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10. Howard Hicks, M.D., has. b~a psychiatrist since 1981. He is not Board 
certified. Respondent was his patient froniSeptember 29, 1998 to April 10, 2003. 

Dr. Hicks testified that respondentfirSt came to him with a diagnosis of general anxiety 
disorder, which Dr. Hicks confirmed. Later,it became apparent to him that she had a major 
_depressive disorder as well. 

In March 2003, Dr. Hicks diag09sedrespondent with "polysubstance abuse."7 He mad_e 
this diagnosis on the basis of a serie$ oievm1t$ occurring du1ing the period from December 2002 
to March (and, eventually, April) 2003,h1eltiding:(i)thatresp011derifcameto his office 
impaired on two or three occasions, 8te,, witll $lur-red spe~,, un!,t~dy ga.itrforgetfulness, 
needing to have questions repeated, ,anda~ng to fall asleep; (ti}her rep9rting of a couple of 
minor automobile accidents; (iii) heI"]t1Glc o!fulthfuln.ess ahoutwhat medications she was 
prescribed and taking, which Dr. Hidk:sviewedas t1.dcsperateatterript to cling to narcotics and 
benzodiazepines, her "drugs of choice";9 (iv) her husband's phone call to Dr. Hicks, which Dr. 
Hicks understood to reflect her husband's concern that respondent was impaired at home, and his 
related concern for the safety of their son; (v) that her family planned an intervention 6n her 
behalfrelating to her drug and alcohol problems; and (vi) respondent's several hospital 
admissions, one of which, in late December 2000, resulted from an incident when she phoned 
him and expressed a concern she may have taken too much Xanax. IQ · 

Because of the events described above and Dr. Hicks' polysubstance abuse diagnosisi Dr. 
Hicks told respondent that she would have to address her chemical dependency before she could 
address other problems (i.e., anxiety, depression). Respondent disagreed with Dr. Hicks, who 
then told her that he could not treat her if they had such a fundamental difference in approach. 
A~ a result, their therapeutic relationship was tenninated in April 2003. 

11. Dr. Hicks testified that respondent's above-described impainnent could but was 
unlikely to have resulted from taking her medications as prescribed. 11 He added that under the 

7 "Polysubstance Abuse" is not identified as a mental disorder in the Diagnostic and 
Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR). Instead,. 
substance abuse mental disorders arejdenttfied by categories, e.g., Cannabis Abuse, 
Hallucinogen Abuse, Opioid Abuse. Additfcmally, the disorder of "Polysubstance Dependence" 
is recognized. · 

8 Respondent had 17 sessions with Dr. Hicks during this period. 
9 Dr. Hicks also testified that at one point he suggested that respondent stop taking 

Xanax, and she protested "vociferously." This caused Dr. Hicks to believe that Xanax was a 
drug of choice and was hurting her. 

10 Xanax is a benzodiazepine use_d to treat anxiety and panic attacks. 

Dr. Hicks testified about what was possibly a distinct incident, when, on December 16, 
2002, respondent called and told him that she had taken over 50 Xanax tablets, as well as two 
Vicodin tablets and two wine coolers to "knock her out." 

11 In addition to Xanax and narcotics, which Dr. Hicks was aware that respondent was 
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totality of the described circumstances, he did not believe that her impairment could reasonably 
be explained in that way. 

Dr. Hicks testified that once an individual is diagnosed with polysubstance abuse, the 
diagnosis in some sense follows or remains with the patient, even during periods when the 
patient is not using the drugs in question, and even though the patient is not impaired during 
periods of non-use. This is especially the case if a chemical dependence is 11 primary," i.e., 
genetic. If, on the other hand, the dependence is «secondary," Le., arises out of an attempt to 
address a particular primary problem such as depression, migraine headaches or anxiety, and if 
the primary issue is successfully addressed, the likelihood of relapse into drug abuse is 
substantially less, though not "zero." He added that ifrespondent did not undergo a "downward 
spiral" within the past six years, he would think that she had managed to get "clean and sober." 

12. · Since respondent left Dr. Hicks' care in April 2003, Dr. Hicks has had no contact 
with respondent's other health care providers or colleagues. 

13. During his testimony) Dr. Hicks exhibited a palpable degree of hostility toward 
respondent and toward members of her family who were present at the hearing. At times he 
seemed inclined to assume the worst about respondent. For example, he did not contact her 
colleagues because he "knew" that she would not have given him pennission to do so. 

I 4. Michael Ricciardi, M.D., is a staff psychiatrist at the Naval Medical Center of San 
Diego. From 2001 to 2006, he practiced at Mesa Vista. Respondent came under Dr. Ricciardi's 
care in late November 2002, on referral from Dr. Hicks, and remained under Dr. Ricciardi 's care 
until mid April 2003. 12 Dr. Ricciardi testified with regard to some of his medical records, but he 
had practically no independent recollection ofrespondent or his treatment ofher. Mesa Vista 
(and other) records reflected that respondent underwent four acute psychiatric inpatient 
hospitalizations in December 2002 and early January 2003, precipitated by a crisis relating to her 
employment with the Navy. 

a. December I I, 2002. In a M_esa Vista admission history dated December 
11, 2002, Dr. Ricciardi referred to respondent's problems with the Navy, and in particular to the 
recent issuance of a 1,000 page EEO report, which essentially exonerated everyone but her in 
connection with a sexual harassment claim she had filed against a fellow radiology resident. 13 

On the evening of December 11, 2002, respondent 1'began to have thoughts of suicide and of 
self-injury. She was uncomfo1iable with remaining at home, fearing that to do so would allow 
opportunity for her to hurt herself or her children. She sought counsel with ... Dr. Hicks, who 

taking, respondent at some point advised him that she was taking pursuant to prescription 
Neurontin, another pain medication, initially 900 mg, but later 1,200 mg, Dr. Hicks testified that 
at the 1,200 mg level, Neurontin can also cause impairment. 

12 Respondent was under Dr. Ricciardi 's care in co1mection with her several admissions 
into the CIOP and one or more of her inpatient admissions at Mesa Vista. 

13 This incident is described below. 
6 

217 



recommended referral to the inpatient unit." 14 Dr. Ricciardi described respondent as "awake, 
tired, alert, and oriented to person, place, time, and situation," and also "depressed and dejected." 
Her speech was described as "spontaneous and regular in rate, rhythm, modulation, and volume. 
Thought processing is logical, linear, and goal directed." Respondent expressed "concern for her 
own safety at home given the frequency of the suicidal ideas and the safety of her children as 
well. When she considers suicide she is burdened with guilt of leaving her children and has 
commented more than once that she would have to take the children with her." 15 Dr. Ricciardi's 
"psychiatric impression" included major depression, chrnnic, severe, without psychosis and 
anxiety disorder not otherwise specified. He referred as well to respondent's migraine 
headaches. He made no reference to substance abuse. Respondent was discharged on December 
13, 2002. 

b. December.16, 2002. In a Mesa Vista CIOG discharge summary dictated 
on February 3, 2003, Dr. Ricciardi stated that respondent was discharged.from the CIOP on 
December 17, 2002, 16 and admitted to the inpatient unit, because she "was expressing suicidal 
ideas." From there, respondent was referred to the Naval Medical Center San Diego 
(NMCSD). 17 

According to NMCSD records, respondent stated that at about 6 :00 p.m. on December · 
16, 2002, she took 45 Xanax tablets, 18 two Vicodin, 19 and three wine coolers, explaining that she 
felt "very stressed" and "wanted to go to sleep" or "take a break. "20 She later corrected herself, 
stating she had taken "closer to 10 mg" Xanax. Respondent denied suicidal intent. After taking 
the medication, ~pondent called her psychiatrist, Dr. Hicks, who told her to go to the hospital. 
She went to the Sharp Coronado Hospital emergency room, and, after she was medically cleared 
from her Xanax overdose, she was transferred to NMCSD. Respondent related to NMCSD staff 
some of the details concerning her sexual harassment complainant, as well as several other 
Navy-related "stressors" with which she was trying to cope. She described semi-weekly panic 
attacks, which she treated with Xanax. She stated that she had been diagnosed with major 

14 Dr. Ricciardi testified that the infonnation recited here came from respondent herself. 
15 Dr. Ricciardi testified that he thought respondent meant by this last comment that if she 

killed herself, she would kill her children as well. He did not explain the basis for his opinion. 
Respondent testified that she did not make this comment at all. 

· 16 Respondent's inpatient admission was the prior evening, December 16. She was 
discharged from the CIOP on December 17, after program staff called respondent's home and 
learned from respondent's husband of her inpatientadmission the night before. 

17 NMCSD was respondent's duty staij.qo, aIJdber transfer there caused her substantial 
additional anxiety and emban-assment. It was not claimed, however, and the evidence did not 
suggest, that the transfer to NMCSD was other thancgincidental. 

18 NMCSD documents variously record respondent claiming to have ingested 45, 50, or 
60 Xanax. 

19 Vicodin is an opioid used to treat pain. 
20 As set forth below, respondent denied that she ingested any alcohol or Vicodin. Lab 

test results from later in the evening of December 16 were negative for opiates and alcohol, thus 
supporting her testimony. · 
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depression, general anxiety disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder. Respondent was given a 
mental status exam. Her level of consciousness "was alert and nonfluctuating and the patient 
was oriented in four spheres." Her speech "was characterized by normal rate and rhythm." Her 
memory "appeared intact," and her "[a]ttention and concentration skills appeared unimpaired." 
Respondent's discharge diagnoses included major depressive disorder, panic disorder, general 
anxiety disorder, migraines, and occupational problems. Respondent was discharged on 
December 17, 2002. 21 

c. l)ecember 27, 2002. In an admission history dated December 31, 2002, 
Dr. Ricciardi referred again to the EEO report. He stated that after returning home earlier that 
day from the CIOP, respondent "found herself becoming more agitated, anxious and depressed" 
and went to her parent's home. "There she continued to experience worsening of her depressed 
mood and emergence of suicidal ideas in the fonn of taking an overdose of medications with the 
hope ofsleeping through the weekend." Her parents then drove her to the hospital. Respondent 
was "drowsy, awake, and alert," and "fully oriented to person, place, time, and situation. Her 
speech is responsive, low in volume, somewhat slow, but otherwise regular in rate and 
modulation." Her "thought processing is slow but linear and goal directed." He added, "The 
patient's cognitive functions are mildly impaired with deficits of concentration and short-term 
memory." Dr. Ricciardi's psychiatric impressions included major depression, chronic severe 
without psychosis and anxiety disorder not otherwise specified. He also referred to her migraine 
headaches. No reference was made to substance abuse. Respondent was discharged on 
December 30, 2002. 

d. January 5, 2003. In an admission history dated January 6, 2003, Dr. 
Ricciardi referred to respondent's four recent "acute episode[s] of depression with suicidal 
ideation," resulting.in admissions at Sharp Mesa Vista and Balboa Naval Hospital. Dr. Ricciardi 
noted that respondent "does not take lethal overdoses as a suicide act,22 but has now twice 

. overdosed on prescribed medications, the first time Xanax and cunently Vicodin."23 Dr. 
Ricciardi described respondent's present mental status as, inter alia, "drowsy, awake and alert. 
She is oriented to person, place, time, and situation. . . . Cognitive functions are mildly impaired 
with deficits of concentration and short term memory." His psychiatric impressions included 
major depression, chronic severe without psychosis, anxiety disorder not.otherwise specified, 
and migraine headaches. Substance abuse was not included among Dr. Ricciardi's impressions. 
Respondent was discharged on January 6, 2003, 

21 The matters set forth in this paragraph are based primarily on NMCSD medical 
records, not those of Dr. Ricciardi. 

22 However, according to a nursing admission assessment dated January 5, 2003, 
respondent stated that she had tried to commit suicide in December 2002. 

23 Dr. Ricciardi testified that the reference to a "current" Vicodin overdose pertained to 
the then-cun-ent hospitalization. His report did not provide any details as to what this overdose 
involved. It is possible that the "overdose" in question was respondent's taking of two Vicodin 
tablets on one occasion within a shorter time interval than prescribed '(see Finding 35). 
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15. In a chart note dated January 22, 2003, Dr. Ricciardi wrote that respondent "had 
an argument with her mother yesterday afternoon because mother questioned the safety of the 
children with her." In a note dated January 29, 2003,24 respondent was noted to be lethargic, 
with "affect blunt, pupils pinpoint, reacbng equally to light, speech slurred, gait steady. Stated 
felt very tired. Was up last night with baby and relates, feeling [illegible] groggy with 
Neuron tin." 

In an outpatient progress note dated April 3, 2003, Dr. Ricciardi noted respondent's 
statement that "she has not acted on [suicidal ideation] however has missed Dilaudid25 prescribed 
for headache." Dr. Ricciardi cautioned respondent "to not misuse medication-either analgesics, 
anxiolytics and other psychotropics." In his assessment, Dr. Ricciardi wrote, "Pt at this time is 
functioning poorly and in a regressed state of dependency." This statement was made in the 
context of respondent's service in the Navy, not medications. 

In an outpatient progress note dated April 7, 2003, Dr. Ricciardi 's "impression" was 
Depression, Anxiety and Benzodiazepine abuse. Dr. Ricciardi testified in somewhat unclear 
terms to the distinction between an "impression" and a fonnal ''diagnosis." Dr. Ricciardi's note 
did not explicitly state the basis for his impression of substance abuse. However, the note states, 
"Girlfriend and parents now saying they think she has become drug dependent." Further, the 
note refers to a conversation Dr. Ricciardi had with Dr. Hicks. It thus appears likely that Dr. 
Ricciardi' s impression of substance abuse was based primarily on the perceptions of 
respondent's family members and the opinion of Dr. Hicks. 

In Dr. Ricciardi's April 11, 2003, discharge summary, he identified major depression, 
chronic, severe, without psychosis and post-traumatic stress disorder as respondent's diagnoses. 
He also made reference to anxiety, to "vague suicidal ideas," and to respondent's migraine 
headaches. He also noted, "At the time of discharge, the patient was able to accept and tolerate 
active duty service in the Navy ...." He made no reference to substance abuse. 

16. Luis Becerra, M.D., is a board-certified neurologist, a Commander in the United 
States Navy, and an Assistant Clinical Professor of Surgery at the Uniform Services University. 
Respondent was one of Dr. Becerra's neurology students, and she was also his patient, from 
August 2001 to September 2003, when he treated her for migraine headache pain at the regional 
Navy headache clinic he headed as part of his duties as Head of the Neurology Division at 
NMCSD. 

Dr. Becerra testified that among the medications he prescribed for .respondent were beta 
blockers and, in late 2002 to early 2003, Neu.rontin and Topomax. These medications, even 
when taken as prescribed, can have significant side effects, such as din1i11Jshed atte11tion and 
concentration, and apparent impainnent. With regard to Neurontin, sig11:ific.ant side effects are 
possible at the 300 mg level (the "starting" dose), but the usual dose is much higher, from 900 to 

24 The identity of the person who prepared this chart note is not known. It is, however, a 
Sharp Mesa Vista team progress note; Dr. Ricciardi is listed as the assigned physician. 

25 Diiaudid is an opioid spray used for pain relief. 
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1200 mg. He started respondent out at 300 mg, then later increased her dosage to 900, and then 
finally to 1200 (around early summer 2002). 

Dr. Becerra testified thathe never su.spected t·espon9ent ofabµsin:gher medications, and 
never thought she was a drug-seeking atier1[ He added that between 2001 · and 2003, he was the 
Chair of the Phannacy and Ther ~~ittee, i.e., the narcotics "Czar." In that capacity, 
he had to know who was and who wurrot ~ndent on medications. 

Dr. Becerra testified thathe w~•wate of respondent's allegations of sexual harassment; 
he counseled her to address them by following the chain of command. Based on that harassment 
and respondent's physical conditionl' · felt that she should leave the Navy. With 
regard to her headaches, respondent t for duty by the Central Physical Evaluation 
Board. She was, however, later discharged as unfit for duty due to depression. Her migraines 
were a "factor" in her discharge. 

January to August 2007 

17. Rene Endow-Eyer, Pharm.D., is employed at the VA Hospital in San Diego as a 
psychiatric clinical pharmacist. She sees patients one-on-one (as a psychiatrist would) and 
prescribes medication under protocol. She is engaged, inter alia, in medication m.anagement, i.e., 
the prescribing, adjusting, and changing of medications. Dr. Endow treated respondent from 
October 2005 to February 6, 2007. Respondent was formally released from Dr. Endow's care on 
March 13, 2007. 

During respondent's first visit with Dr. Endow, respondent denied alcohol use. 
Respondent identified Triazolam, a benzodiazepine, for insomnia, and Buproprion (Wellbutrin)26 

as the medications she was currently taking. Respondent did not advise Dr. Endow conceming 
any prescriptions for Dilaudid spray or NorcoNicodin. 27 Dr. Endow testified that she would 
have wanted to know if respondent were taking other medications ( e.g., for pain management), 
so as to avoid unintended duplication of therapy and to guard against unintended drug 
interactions. Dr. Endow prescribed Temazepam, also a benzodiazepine, for respondent's 
insomnia. Dr. Endow testified that it was her understanding that respondent would no longer be 
receiving T1iazolam or any other benzodiazepine. Dr. Endow's prescription ofTemazepam was 
also based on her under~tanding that respondent was not drinking alcohol-if she had known 
otherwise, it would have affected her continued prescription of a benzodiazepine. 

In March 2006, Dr. Endow issued a prescription to respondent for W ellbutrin. 

In May 2006, Dr. Endow increased respondent's Temazepam prescription from 30 to 45 
mg. She did so based on the belief that respondent was not receiving benzodiazepines from any 

26 Wellbutrin is an antidepressant. 
27 Norco is an opioid, used to treat pain. It is very similar to Vicodin, but each Norco 

tablet contains 10 mg of the opiate hydrocodone, whereas each Vicodin tablet contains only 5 mg 
of that drug. 
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other source. Dr. Endow testified that she was not sure she would have increased the dosage had 
she known that respondent was receiving benzodiazepines from another source. At this time, 
according to Dr. Endow's notes, respondent again denied alcohol use. 28 

On January 9, 2007, respondent expressed concern that "at times anxiety is too much for 
her while driving, stutters while speaks." On that date, Dr. Endow first issued to respondent a 
prescription for Lorazepam (Ativan) , another benzodiazepine used to treat anxiety. 

On January 23, 2007, at least in paii based on respondent's suggestion, Dr. Endow 
increased the dosage of that prescription. At the same time, Dr. Endow discontinued 
respondent's presc1iption for Temazepam. Respondent advised Dr. Endow at this time that she 
had seen psychiatrist Laura Vleugels the preceding week, and that respondent had received 
Ambien CR29 from that source. Respondent did not mention receiving benzodiazepines or 
Wellbutrin from any other source. Dr. Endow testified that if she had known respondent was 
receiving Wellbutrin from Dr. Vleugels, she would not have continued prescribing it, due to the 
danger of seizures at high doses. Dr. Endow also noted, "pt seems to minimize her symptoms 
and this is the first time she's been honest with her symptoms with writer." 

·On February 6, 2007, with respondent's agreement, Dr. Endow decreased respondent's 
Lorazepam prescription because respondent was noted to have "slurring speech." Dr. Endow 
also noted respondent was "somewhat unsteady walking down the hallway." Dr. Endow testified 
that if respondent were getting this medication elsewhere, that could also cause slurred speech, as 
could taking too high a dosage of the medication. 30 Dr. Endow also noted at this time that 
respondent "seems to minimize her symptoms." 

On February 27 and March 7;2006, respondent executed medical releases so that Dr. 
Endow and Dr. Vleugels could communicate with each other about her. On March 1_3, 2007, Dr. 
Endow phoned Dr. Vleugels. Dr. Endow and Dr. Vleugels discussed medications that each had 
prescribed to respondent. Dr. Endow learned that both she and Dr. Vleugels were prescribing 

28 On several other oc~asions, Dr. Endow's notes reflected respondent'.s denial of alcohol 
use. Dr. Endow testified that it is her practice to manually enter (type) this information into each 
electronic chart note; she admitted, however, that she had no independent recoUection of having 
done so in this case, or of her conversations with respondent about alcohol use. Dr. Endow's 
numerous references to respondent's alcohol and drug use consisted of the following identical 
language. "Denies ETOH/drug use. Denies tobacco use. Drinks occ caffeinated soda 3-4x/wk. 
Is being followed in FIRM [i.e., medical providers]." The conclusion seems inescapable that, 
whatever Dr. Endow's standard practice, in this case she in fact copied and pasted the quoted 
language into her notes on each occasion. Dr. Endow's claim that respondent repeatedly told her 
that she did not drink alcohol is thus rendered somewhat questionable. It is rendered more 
questionable by the undisputed fact (see below) that respondent freely told Dr. Vleugels that she . 
drank alcohol. 

29 Ambien is used to treat insomnia. 
30 Dr. Endow testified that slurred speech can also be a side effect when the medication is 

taken as prescribed. 
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Wellbutrin XL to respondent. 31 As a result of her conversation with Dr. Vleugels, and because it 
would create a conflict for a patient to see two different providers for medications, as well as a 
risk of duplication of services and unintended drug interactions, Dr. Endow discontinued all 
medications she had prescribed to respondent. Further, Dr. Endow and the VA "team" 
determined that it was not in respondent's best interest to receive treatment and medication 
management from two providers, and that respondent should therefore be given the option to 
choose between the VA and Dr. Vleugels. It was respondent's decision to tenninate her 
treatment with Dr. Endow. 

Dr. Endow never had a concern that respondent had a drug abuse or dependence problem. 
She never observed resEondent impaired and she never believed that respondent was taking 
excessive medications. 2 

Dr. Endow testified in an objective, fair manner. She did not come across as attempting 
to advocate for or against respondent. 

18. Laura Vleugels, M.D., is a psychiatrist, licensed in California since 2003. She 
treated respondent from January 2007 to October 2008. From the outset, it was Dr. Vleugels' 
understanding that respondent was transferring her psychotherapeutic treatment from Dr. Endow 
to herself. 

Dr. Yleugels stated33 that at her initial session with respondent on January 12, 2007, 
respondent identified her symptoms as including "very poor concentration medical school-on 
(i.e. CME lectures)," "worried about catching pedestrians (driving),"34 Hexhaustion all the time," 
and "fatigue- wants to go to bed as soon as she gets home." Respondent told Dr: Vleugels that 
she had suffered from migraine headaches since she was in her early twenties. Among the . 
medications respondent told Dr. Vleugels she was taking were Citalopram (Celexa), Fioricet,35 

and Dilaudid spray. Respondent stated that her alcohol use was "rare." Dr. Vleugels did not 
note in her chart that respondent identified Vicodin as one ofher pain medications; she thus did 
not believe that respondent told her she was taking that drug. Dr. Vleugels' assessment included 
diagnoses of major depressive disorder (MDD), general anxiety disorder (GAD), and post 
traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). With regard to her plan, she noted, "No change in meds at this 
time-will send for VA records [and] Gifford records." 

On January 17, 2007, respondent broughnwo VA medications to show Dr. Vleugels, 
Wellbutrin and Citalopram. Dr. Vleugels prescribed Lorazepam for respondent's anxiety. Dr. 

31 As found below, Dr. Vleugels was already aware of this fact, since respondent had told 
her so. 

32 These facts are inferred from the absence of any such notations in Dr. Endow's chart. 
33 The Factual Findings relating to Dr. Vleugels are based both on Dr. Yleugel's 

testimon( and on her chart notes. · 
3 Dr. Vleugels was not certain but believed this chart note referred to respondent's 

anxiety, not to any substance abuse issues. 
35 Fioricet is a barbiturate used to treat headache pain. 
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Vleugels did not know at the time thatresporidon.t badalready been presciibed a benzodiazepine 
from another source-though that k110wledge would not have affected her decision to prescribe 
Lorazepam to respondent. Dr. Vleupl~~ a~~tnentand plan remained unchanged. On January 
24, 2007, Dr. Vleugels prescribed Gta'nazepm'i,(Klonopin), another benzodiazepine, used to treat 
anxiety, and continued two prescriptim1sr forWellbutrin and Citalopram,36 which respondent had 
received from the VA. Dr. Vleugels:n~~d fhitrespc>ndent's sleep had "markedly improved on 
Ambien CR."37 Her diagnosis_rem!iiinedun~nge:d, On January 31, 2007, respondent advised 
Dr. Vleugels that a pharmacist at theVA,toldllertwo weeks before that '"Celexa wasn't for me." 
Dr. Vleugels did not know at this time frlat th~V'Apll,n-macist had been prescribing 
benzodiazepines to respondent. Dr. Vfougeli' assessment at this time was major depressive 
disorder (MDD), general anxiety disordet (GAD), and "panic." 

On Febmary 7, 20.07, respand.~l told Pr, Vleugels that she had one drink peruight. Dr. 
Vleugels "encouraged" respondent notto dri.tilt wcolrolw.hiletakingbenzodiazepines; due to the 
"additive effect," and noted that respondent~~verbaltzed uriderstandlng." Dr; VIeugels' diagnosis 
remained unchanged. 

On Febrnary 14, 2007, respondent told Dr. Vleugels that she had consumed two drinks 
during the preceding week. Dr. Vleugels again "cautioned [respondent]@ use of ETOH [i.e., 
alcohol] w/benzos given additive effect." Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis was MDD, GAD and post­
traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). As of that date, respondent had still not told Dr. Vleugels that 

. she had been prescribed Ativan from the VA. · 

On February 26, 2007, respondent told Dr. Vleugels about a conflict she had had with her 
husband whiie on vacation. According to Dr. Vleugels' chart note, respondent's husband 
expressed concern "about medicines combining and leading to" side effects. Specifically, 
respondent woke up with a headache one day after drinking two pifia coladas the previous 
evening, and took dilaudid nasal spray. 38 Respondent's husband "felt she was unsteady on her 
feet, confused (per pt). He took away her meds" for one day. Respondent eKplained to Dr. 
Vleugels that she took Dilaudid spray, albeit rarely, and that her husband "has always had 
concern about dilaudid:" Respondent made reference to a Dr. Tiffany, whom she saw every 
three months, and from whom she received "pain control" medications for her heada~hes. Dr. 
Vleugels' diagnosis was "MDD recurrent severe," "GAD w/panic," and PTSD. Dr. Vleugels 
"[d]iscussed importance of not drinking w/combo of benzos/narcotics." She noted that 
respondent "agrees not to drink," and "not to use nasal spray/dilaudid." Dr. Vleugels noted that 

36 Like Wellbutrin_, Citalopram is an anti-depressant. 
37 Dr. Vleugels testified that she did not know how or where respondent received this 

medication. Dr. Vleugels believed that she may have given respondent samples; her chart notes 
did not reflect this, however. 

38 Dr. Vleugels testified that ifrespondent used the Dilaudid spray "a number of hours" 
after she consumed the drinks, there would not have been an additive effect. Dr. Vleugels 
believed that in fact the alcohol respondent had consumed the preceding evening would have 
been out ofher system by the time she took the Dilaudid spray. 
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she bad phoned and left a message for Dr. Endow at the VA, and that respondent told her she 
was no longer seeing Dr. Endow. 

On February 26, 2007, after her session with respondent, Dr. Vleugels received a phone 
message from respondent's husband, Mark. According to Dr. Vleugels, she called respondent, 
who "gave me pennission to return his call but preferred that I not release info w/o her being 
present." According to her chart notes, Dr. Vleugels called Meoni, who expressed concern "that 
Jill is not presenting a clear picture of her medications. He notes she was extremely sedated last 
week 'this isn't the first time ... ' 'She is in denial.'" Meoni felt that Dr. Vleugels did not have a 
clear picture of what respondent was taking and the impact of her medication on her, Dr. 
Vleugels did not recall at the hearing whether Meoni's concern was about medications in 
general, or about Dilaudid in pa11icular. 

On March 7, 2007, respondent advised Dr. Vleugels that she had "had a bad [headache] 
the other night-husband had taken her Dilaudid & not given it back. Husband rubbed her head. 
Took Fioricet--didn't help." Respondent told Dr. Vleugels she was very upset that Meoni had 
called Dr, Vleugels, and that Meoni's lack of understanding of respondent's depressive and 
anxiety disorders was causing some conflict between them. Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis at this time 
was MDD, GAD, and PTSD. Dr. Vleugels discussed her recommendation that respondent 
decrease her use of benzodiazepines, and reviewed the side effects, including "mental clouding, 
sedation, care with driving potential for abuse/dependence, risks of combing with other meds­
esp narcotics: No ETOH." Dr. Vleugels noted that respondent "agrees not to drink ETOH" and 
"[n]o longer plans to take Dilaudid for migraine pain." 

On March 13, 2007, Dr. Endow phoned Dr. Vleugels, and they spoke concerning the 
various medications that each had prescribed for respondent. Dr. Endow told Dr. Vleugels that 
she had prescribed Lorazepam to respondent. Dr. Endow told Dr .. Vleugels that she had 
tenninated her'care of respondent and would no longer be providing further treatmentor 
medications for respondent. Until her conversation with Dr. Endow, Dr. Vleugels was unaware 
that respondent had been prescribed a benzodiazepine from another provider. 

On March 14, 2007, Dr. Vleugels "confronted [respondent] with my concems about her 
taking benzos from 2 sources, her having had at least 3 episodes of oversedation,39 her continued 
use of ETOH, her need for narcotics." Respondent denied that she took more benzodiazepines 
than had been prescribed, and explained that she "felt badly about terminating with [Dr. Endow] 

· and that the VA mailed refills." Dr. Vleugels stated that respondent had never disclosed to her 
that she was receiving benzodiazepines from the VA on an on-going basis, and that this raised a 
"red flag," as one indication of substance dependence is securing medication from multiple 
sources. Further, Dr. Vlem!els \v:ts concerned that ifresnondcnt took too n12.ny benzodiazeoines,.
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dependence, sh;:; agrees with :.:1y plan to taper her off benzod12.zepines. S11e agrees not to obtain 

:, () ' - ' ""' 

!Jr tc.strh erJ ll1 at the sow cc: this infrl,Til'.,L1on was re: ;v:;,1dent 
Vici. as !v1urk\ rnure general cGn°,:crn that respu 0:dcnt 1,vas oYcrx:<latecL 
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benzos from other sources.'' Dr. VleugelsfelFtbatres;pond•ttniniilllizedDr,Vleug¢ls' concerns 
about respondent's securing benzodiazepint;$ '9m two sour~) offerin.g as tip ex;plana.tion that 
she continued to receive these drugs from the.VA, because they were shipped to her 
automatically. Regarding respondent's narcoticuse, Dr. Vlettgels was concerned that such use 
might lead to drug interactions with themc:dieations she (Dt;Vleugeis) w~prescribing or to side 
effects that could impair respondent. Dr.. V'.l~gj}s' diagt19$i.$waa MPDL<l',¾~1 PTS.D, and, for 
the first time, "benzo dependence?"40 Dr. Vleµgtlsi plan included''No ETO}I'' and that 
respondent "agrees for all benzos to come from me." 

On April 25, 2007, Dr. Vleugels notedthat respondent complained of"difficulty w/focus 
at work." She also stated, however, that ''('.lQll;~tnttion has improved-i.e. @ CME." 
Respondent told Dr. Vleugels that she was ~taking Dilaudid spray, but instead Fioricet as 
needed, for her headaches. Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis was MDD, GAD, PTSD, and "Benzo 
abuse?" 

On May 9, 2007, Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis was PTSD, GAD, MDD and·"benzo abuse." 
No other infonnation noted in the chart explains or suggests why the question mark was deleted 
from the "benzo abuse" reference. Dr. Vleugels testified that at this point, she had still not made 
a formal diagnosis of benzodiazepine abuse, but was keeping it on her list as something she was 
· considering. 

On May 30, 2007, respondent informed Dr. Vleugels of her May 24-25 hospitalization, 
"secondary to altered mental state."41 Respondent admitted to using alcohol and headache 
medications on the date she was hospitalized, but denied any intentional overdose. She agreed to 
sign a release so that Dr. Vleugels could secure the relevant medical records. Dr. Vleugels' 
diagnosis remained unchanged. She cautioned respondent with regard to the use of alcohol and 
opioids. 

On June 6, 2007, Dr. Vleugels reviewed1:iertain medical records relating to respoqd.mit's 
recent hospitalization. She testified that the statement in one document (a narrative smmnttry of 
respondent's hospitalization) that re9pondentna.4.had "a ooUpledrinks ofEl'QHdai1;yov<,tfhe 
past several days to help her sleep" was in~stetlt witbrespon.de1~t 1.s stfltements to Dr. .. 
Vleugels that she was not consuminganyaleohoL Based on bfffeview oft'he records, Dr. 
Vleugels understood that altered mental state was one of the d1agnoses offespondent, and that 
respondent underwent a psychological evaluation. Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis was MDD, QA!), and 
PTSD; benzodiazepine abuse was no longernl.etioned. No explanation for its absence was 
provided, but DL Vleugels testified thatitstein()Val meant that it was no longer an ongoing 
concern for her. On no subsequent occasion dc1ring her treatment of respondent did Dr. Vleugels 
1n:0 :1ti Cy substan'.'<; as a or ,1ciu:11 diagnosis rec,pondenl.. 

40 Dr. Yieugels testified that this note fn1 particular the question nurk\ meant that 
possible benzocfa::,;-cpine dcpe:1dcnce wa:, bern:~1ing i.1 concern rn 11cr., hut \\ 01; not at thi:, point,\ 
i 1 nT1al di 

41 41 This '.1ospitalizatior: is described below. 
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On June 13, 2007, respondentinf011lledDr, ¥1eugels that she had had a rum and Coke 
the previous evening. Dr. Vleugels t~tified that dcii'ttl so was contrary to respondent's 
agreement not to consume alcohq1. Dr, Vloug¢il~' di~osis was unchanged. 

On July 18, 2007, respondentfeported increased anxiety, and "Had feeling crossing the 
bridge this am-had intrusive tliougfi.tofdriv!~g:off''1ebridge." Dr. Vleugels did not recall that 
this intrusive thought was a rectttting . .one. j..nJ:ti:h,heported "no significant use" of headache 
medication. Respondent did not repQrt tllat.she had taken Vicodin as prescribed by Dr. Umansky 
in connection with any plastic surgiealproc~ure.42 Dr. Vleugels' diagnosis remained 
unchanged. 

On August 1, 2007, respondentto1dJ)r. Vleugels tb~t$be was 4'just ahaisk:m;c~se/'43 that 
she had "really bad anxiety~all dayt ey~ryd~y. Trouble thi*ng clearly.}' ftesporident .wa~ 
experiencing "horrible" headaches, afid waitaking "round the Clod< Fforicet;•..t4 Dr; Vleu~• 
diagnosis remained unchanged. 

19. On August 8, 2007, Dr. Vleugels submitted a complaint to the medical board 
about respondent. She wrote: 

"This physician struggles with chronic severe headaches and an anxiety disorder. 
She is on multiple medications. She was recently admitted to the hospital for 
altered mental status. She was under the influence of prescribed medications and· 
admitted to recent alcohol use. I have concerns about this physician-she is a 
radiologist who is on call at all times to read images. Her prescription drug use, 
alcohol use may impair her ability to work." 

Dr. Vleugels testified that she. initialll' oont~theroedical board beoaOOf: o:(thr~ ~'red 
flags": (i) Respondent's receipt ofbmzcx:Ii~epinesfr-91n two sources; (ii) Mark Mooni'spoone 
call reflecting that respondent was ha:villg pt"Obiems~ti11gto medication; y.nd (iii)res~~t's 
May 2007 hospitalization. Her pu~ih pltieing theca.11 was to ascertainwhetlflers'be was 
required to report respondent to the board. Tu~ bo84"d•, l:e:PfOSeatatjvetold.hcr th~t ~~. "lllight 
want to file" the complaint, for "ethical reasona.*' Bas:ecl ortthis statement; Dt, Vleugels felt 
compelled to file the complaint. 

20. On November 28, 2007, respondent and Dr. Vleugels discussed a letter respondent 
had received from the medical board infonning her that a complaint had been filed against her. 
Respondent "firmly believes someone in radiology rep01ied her." Dr. Vleugels did not tell 
respondent that she herself was the reporting party. Substance use was discussed. Respondent 
told Dr. Vleugels she was decreasing her use of Dilaudid spray, and denied "obtaining from 
other sources. 45 Respondent acknowledged receiving benzodiazepines from two sources (i.e., 

42 Dr. Umansky's care ofrespondent is described below. 
43 This phrase is in quotation marks in Dr. Vleugels' chaii notes .. 
44 Again, the phrases are in quotation marks in Dr. Vleugels' notes. 
45 Dr. Vleugels testified that she did not recall ever hearing about a Dr. Umansky or the 
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Dr. Vleugels and the VA), and explained that this was because "she didn't want to tell VA she 
had a new care provider." Respondent further pointed out that "she tapered off without protest 
when evident they were not effective." Respondent also aclrnowledged having one drink per 
night on occasion. Respondent did not believe substance use was "problematic." Dr. Vleugels 
discussed with respondent the possibility of consulting with an addiction specialist, to which 
respondent replied, "That would be like my telling them [i.e., the medical board] they're right!" 

21. Dr. Vleugels continued to treat respondent for over a year after filing the medical 
board complaint. Dr. Vleugels did not disclose to respondent that she was the individual who 
had filed the complaint until October 2008. Her disclosure effectively ended the therapeutic 
relationship. Dr. Vleugels testified that she did not tell respondent sooner because she did not 
want such a disclosure to interfere with their working-relationship. In February 2009, respondent 
sent Dr. Vleugels an intent to sue letter. 

Dr. Vleugels testified in an objective manner. She did not seem defensive when asked 
pointed questions. She did not exhibit any hosti_lity toward respondent, but seemed to answer 
questions honestly. On the other hand, the pending lawsuit constitutes a substantial source of 
potential bias. 

22. On March 18, 2007, respondent was treated by Dr. John Berry at Midway Urgent 
Care for acute ear pain secondary to earplug impaction. After cleaning respondent's ear1 Dr. 
Berry discharged her with a prescription for Vicodin (16 tablets), which respondent filled the 

. following day. 

23. At about 3:00 a.m. on May 24i2007, ~ponden:t was adinittedfo NMCSrl-with a 
complaint of ear pain. At that time,. a;~dingtontlf~ notesfresptjndent ~•appfMf$ to he 
staggering and is in tears. Pt apperuj-a.Iterect Left ;1rpain. PtslowtorespQnd atid m-swj 
questions." At 3 :30 a.m., it waS not~q that re~pomierifhad I:slurred speech, ri§t app1:9Briat,~ly · 
answeiing questions. Pt anxiousl:tearful&: st .• ,, ~~eartiurts. lfl•Anot~at4::.5t)a.m.. ,., 
"unable to maintain consent dirtdueto] .. . ..... . .incite afi:30 a,m./.stated.; '~toontm.uesto be 
i,:rntional, tangential, weepy emotio~,,; A P-$Y®Ol~&i~l ~m~twas dpn~ at~bout.2I00 
a.m. A blood alcohol test conduotedatl l :30 a;tn .. iif'te<ited abJood aloohulcontenfof0,00$ 
percent, i.e., a barely measurable amount Lab t~sts.Were po~itive fo.rbarbiturntes~nd opioids. 
As part of her treatment, resportqent WQ.adm.~Jte~ :niotpJ:lfu~, wili6b ntit'1t1lllly m:iplies 
significant pain on the part of the patient On physical exainination iM :00 p~m., reapondenrw as 
found to be "awake, alert and oriented to time, ~rson,place, art? situa:tion.» ReSJ)l:lJJdentwas 
discharged on May 25 at 11 :50 a.m. to the ENT clinic for further 11'lll11agement ofher> 
mastoiditis.47 At the time of discharge, respondent'Jfdiagn¢>$ea-.wer~?,cutemastoiditis without 
complications," "depressive disorder, not elsewhereclaeified/1a..nd•tmigrainewithout 
intractable migraine. ,,4g 

prescription ofVicodin by Dr. Umansky to respondent. 
46 AMS refers to altered mental state. 
47 Mastoiditis is an inflammation (i.e., infection) of a bone behind the ear. 
48 The "admission diagnosis" had been identified as "altered.ment~l. status, Otitis Extema, 
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24. Frank Tiffany, M.D., is an internist. He is not Board certified. From 2004 to 
2008, he was a staff physician at Dr. David Smith's San Diego Comfrehensive Pain 
Management Center (PMC). He was terminated in February 2008,4 and has since practiced as 
an independent contractor, engaging in internal medicine and pain management. He has no 
special training in pain management aside from what he has learned on the job. 

Respondent was a patient at the PMC from early 2003 to at least December 2007. During 
most of this time, it was Dr. Tiffany who treated respondent for migraine headache pain. Dr. 
Tiffany testified that a number of different medications were tried to address respondent's severe 
migraine headaches, and she was eventually stabilized on a combination of Dilaudid, Fioricet, 
and Norco .. 

On April 9, 2003, respondent signed an "Infonned Consent For Opioid Maintenance" 
agreement. The agreement stated, inter alia, that "I consent to receive prescriptions for all opioid 
medication(s) exclusively from Dr. David James Smith, at SDCPMC." 

Dr. Tiffany fells patients to take whatever medication they need when they need it, so 
long as they don't exceed the total amount prescribed during the prescription period, i.e., he 
warns them that they only have a certain amount of medication that must last a certain period of 
time. 

In 2005, respondent was prescribed Dilaudid spray to be used up to four times per day. 
From March 2005 to May 2007, respondent underutilized the spray. According to Dr. Tiffany, 
she used only nine spray bottles, though she could have gone through 17 bottles and still been 
"within the correct framework." Norco was also prescribed during much of this period. 

In August 2007, Dr. Tiffany discontinued Dilaudid, since respondent wanted to try a 
different medication. Dr. Tiffany discussed Actiq (i.e., Fentanyl "pops")50 with respondent, and 
he gave her a two-week supply, as a trial, with instructions that she take one pop twice per day. 
Dr. Tiffany also gave respondent a Norco refill, but asked her to hold off on taking it, to see if 
the Actiq was effective. In September 2007, Dr. Tiffany noted in his progress notes that 
respondent had been having some severe headaches recently. Further, "She states she 
cont[inues] to utilize the Actiq pops which she states at times is not as eff[ ective] so she ends up 
using two pops at a time. She would like to discuss with MD what the next strength of the pop 
is." By January 2008, Dr. Tiffany's prescription to respondent was now two Actiq pops at a 
time, twice a day. In other words, at some point Dr. Tiffany modified his prescription ofActiq to 
coincide with the level of the rnedication that resnondent was i:1 fact taking .:, ,_, 

1 I ever adv: Dr V reither :,·c1tir.ms ',1\ :,:. '.,; :ung as 'bed 
L Uher pliysL:,<1n.-::. 1vas r1-.:i. ;,,wan: 1,vhcU1cr c1ny other prescn Leadachc 
medications at the same time C-1at he himself die:. More specif'i-:::ally, he was 11naware in June 

~·. 
:1'') 

Dr .d! y lias sued ·· . .:.;rnitb 'vV lo L.:rrninat1on. 
50 Fentar:yl is an opioid, used to treat pc:n. 
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2007 that respondent was receiving Fioricet from a Naval hospital, at a time when he himself 
was prescribing to respondent another barbiturate, Fiorinal. 51 In a January 17, 2008 chart note, 
Dr. Tiffany stated, "Pt reports that she was prev[iously] obtaining fiorinal from Balboa Hospital. 
However states that she would like to obtain at this facility vs. Balboa. Pt denies any medication 
refills.'' 

Dr. Tiffany testified that he would want to know if another physician were prescribing 
benzodiazepines. A failure to disclose these matters would "raise a red flag" for him. He 
explained that it is important for a physician to have this kind of information, to be sure that 
there is no unintended drug interaction. It could be dangerous if a patient does not infom1 her 
physician of all of her medications. 

Dr. Tiffany testified that he had no indication that respondent used any medications 
inappropriately. He has never seen her somnolent and has never seen her impaired. 

25. William Umansky, M.D., is a board-certified plastic and reconstructive surgeon. 
In November 2005, Dr. Umansky perfonned an abdominoplasty on respondent. Respondent had 
a post-operation serroma (fluid collection), lasting a little longer than average, so Dr. Umansky 
saw respondent for about three months post-surgery for that condition. His prescription of 
Vicodin in November 2005 for post-operative pain was within his usual custom and practice. 
Dr. Umansky was aware at the time that respondent was being treated elsewhere for migraine 
pain, He did not know she was receiving Dilaudid; he testified that even if he had known this, it 
would not have changed his own prescription. 

Dr. Umansky performed two more surgical procedures on respondent in 2007, a 
liposuction (in July) and a second, related procedure (in September). In both instances, Dr. 
Umansky prescribed Vicodin for post-operative pain. Dr. Umansky was unaware that 
respondent was receiving Norco elsewhere at the time of his own Vi cod in prescriptions. He 
testified that had he been so aware, he would have discussed the matter with respondent and, 
depending on the outcome of that discussion, may or may not have changed his Vicodin 
prescription. He might possibly, for example, have prescribed a stronger dose of Vicodin, ifhe 
concluded respondent's need for pain medication was greater than he originally thought to be the 
case. 

Dr. Umansky testified that at no time did he believe that respondent was impaired, was 
abusing medication, or was engaging in drug-seeking behavior. 

26. A Controlled Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) 
patient prescription history52 reflected, inter alia, the following prescription-filling history of 

51 Fiorinal is very similar to Fioricet and is used to treat headache pain. 
52 CURES patient prescription histories are compiled from information maintained by the 

Department of Justice, which consists of "Schedule II and Scheduled III prescription infonnation 
that is received from California pharmacies and is therefore only as accurate as the infonnation 
provided by the Pharmacies." Fioricet and Fiorinal, as well as benzodiazepines, are Schedule IV 
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respondent: 

a. Between November 7 and 18, 2005, respondent filled three prescriptions 
for Vi cod in, for a total of 110 tablets, prescribed by Dr. Umansky in connection with the plastic 
surgical procedural she underwent that month. She did not fill any other prescriptions for 
Vicodin or Norco during November 2005. However, she did during that month fill prescriptions 
for Fiorinal and Dilaudid spray, prescribed by PMC's Dr. Tiffany. 

b. Between December 2005 and January 2007, respondent filled one 
prescription for Norco (20 tablets), four for Dilaudid spray, and two for Fiorinal (120 tablets), all 
prescribed by Dr. Tiffany. 

c. In February and March 2007, respondent filled one prescription for 
Dilaudid spray and, on March 11, one for Norco (60 tablets), prescribed by Dr. Tiffany. On 
March 19, 2007, respondent filled one Vicodin prescription (16 tablets), prescribed by Dr. Berry 
for her ear pain. Between February 21 and March 7, she also filled three prescriptions for 

. benzodiazepines prescribed by Dr. Vleugels (60 1 mg tablets of Clonazepam, 30 1 mg tablets of 
Lorazepam,53 and 45 0.5 mg tablets of Lorazepam), as well as one prescription for Ambien CR 
(30 12.5 mg tablets), also prescribed by Dr. Vleugels. 

d. Between May l 0 and August 9, 2007, respondent filled one Dilaudid 
spray prescription and four Norco prescriptions (300 tablets)t prescribed by Dr. Tiffany. In 
addition, respondent filled four Vicodin prescriptions (120 tablets), prescribed by Dr. Umansky 
in connection with the liposuction he performed in July 2007. Respondent did not fill any of the 
Dr. Tiffany prescriptions during the period she filled the Dr. Umansky prescriptions (i.e., July 12 
through August I). 54 

e. Between August 29 and December 13, 2007, respondent filled one Norco 
prescription (90 tablets) and five Fentanyl prescriptions (270 pops), prescribed by Dr. Tiffany. 
Respondent also filled one Vicodin prescription (30 tablets), prescribed by Dr. Umansky, in 
connection with the November 2007 procedure. 

depressants (Health & Saf. Code,§ 11057, subd. (d)), and thuswou1d notneoessarilybe 
identified in CL~RES histories, frough at times, £or reasons apparently not lrnown to the pcnies, 

\. ·~o ' Druo<: t:,'·' r1r,c~,·c1ihed f',_..___J '- ,, ' lw ,.,' "··•e LJ, VA < (e ··;~··:,'J 1, 1i· '--') ~.J,. : 'r ____Fnclc"u'1 , . )\1/ ,.-;. ?.L, l\1 do ..... not ·v·'')''~" L).'..("\..,,.lt on . CT .., , fP,, 

:.i:i This p2ffl1cular prescr:puon was fill;:-c '-'n February 24, 2007. Tl,Dugh not reflectcj on 
the CURES report, two days later respondent filled a Lorazepam prescription (60 2 mg tao!ets) 
fr,::,, 
,._ .. _._._... 

had 
,;l 

been n--;=,c;;'-ibed pi 54 ....,-,-..v~ 
by D,· 

• , ~..._..,___. 
F~,dow 

• -'. • ' • ' -•

· ft app:·ars that rcspo,,ci:::;nt filled anc,tn'..cr V1codm p,T:;cnpt10n, not n.:f1ected on tl1t: 

C 1 
• report. l' tah!c:ts on iv1:,v 1n CC)11necl1on v 1 her di from t\1:.: 

r,,_;~,;)1talizat1or: the previous dc:y 
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Respondent's Testimony 

27. Respondent and her husband Mark were married in 1994. The couple has four 
children, presently 13, l 2, 7 and 4 years old. 

28. Respondent began her residency in radiology at NMCSD in 1998. She was the 
only female in her class. 

Respondent testified that during the course of her residency, one of her male colleagues 
acted in inappropriate ways. Matters became more serious, despite respondent's attempts to talk 
to her colleague about his conduct, and during her second year respondent went to her program 
director. Finally, in March 2002, respondent filed a formal sexual harassment complaint. 
Shortly after filing the complaint, respondent was removed from her residency at NMCSD and 
placed elsewhere for further radiological training. Eventually, she was reassigned to NMCSD, 
where she completed her residency. In November 2002, she became Board certified, passing the 
ex,am on her first attempt. At some point during this period, respondent decided to seek a 
medical discharge from the Navy. The Navy initially refused the discharge, finding her fit for 
duty (in early 2003). Later, in August 2003, the Navy discharged her, based on findings of 
depression and anxiety. 55 . 

29, Respondent testified concerning her four inpatient hospitalizations in December 
2002 and January 2003. 

a. December 11, 2002. Respondent testified that several days before she was 
admitted inpatient on December 11, 2002, she received her copy of the 1,000-page EEO report 
pertaining to her sexual harassment complaint.· While she had-concerns before the report was 
rel~ased about how objective or fair it would be, she nonetheless hoped that the report would 
vindicate her. When she reviewed it, however, she felt that it was unfair and biased. She 
became discouraged and disillusioned. She referred to the report as a "traumatic event." She felt 
that she needed some time alone to process the report, away from her family, and from her 
family responsibilities. She denied suicidal ideation. She stated that she did have thoughts about 
how the people who had hurt or betrayed her would feel if she were gone, i.e., if she killed 
herself, but she had no thoughts of actually ending her life, as that would leave her children 
without their mother. 

b. December 16, 2002. Respondent testified that she was very stressed, was 
not sleeping well, and was continuing to think about the EEO report and the implications of that 
report for her Na val career. She was exhausted. She wanted to take a nap, get some rest, and let 

husband take: care of lhe · dren. ·ro that c·nd she took a· handful" of (about six to ten'! 

55 The rec;xd was unclear with regard tci whether re:opondent formal sought the 
discharge, or whether the Navy a1one can inst1tute discharge IJ~oceedings. 1n either case, the 
C\1iccnce was cI;:;.Jr that it wc1s re::;~1ondent's de,:n: m1d intent1cm to he disci1;1.:·ged Jt is a,,;,) clear 

discbn; l''' t\ a'., for med, l re,Jsons, :i,1 i,o1 on the b._Li:; any conduc, ,;,: lic.r 
part. 

21 

232 



Xanax. "The instant I took that Xanax, I knew I had made a mistake." She called Dr. Hicks to 
make sure that the amount she had taken would not be dangerous. She did not tell Dr. Hicks that 
she bad taken 50 to 60 tablets. 56 Dr. Hicks advised her to go to the emergency room. She had 
her husband take her to the Sharp Coronado Hospital emergency room, where she spent several 
hours before being transferred to NMCSD. The transfer to her duty station upset her. 
Respondent denied that she took the Xanax in order to hurt, much less kill, herself-she just 
wanted to get some sleep. She in fact denied that admission on an inpatient basis was even 
medically necessary, though she felt it provided a therapeutic benefit to her. 

c. December 27, 2002 and JanuaJy 5, 2003. Respondent testified that the 
reasons for these two hospitalizations were the same as for the previous two, i.e., the enormous 
stress she was under in connection with the release of the EEO report, and the desire to have 
some time away from her family so that she could take care of herself without having to focus on 
other people. 

Respondent testified that she has not had any inpatient hospitalizations for psychological 
reasons since the January 5, 2003 incident. 

30. Respondent testified concerning the CIOG. She stated that the program was very 
helpful to her in three ways. First, it got her out of the Navy library, where she had been 
temporarily assigned during the pend ency of her EEO complaint, and where she was getting hate 
mail. Second, it taught her a healthy pro-active way to deal with a life-altering event in her life 
(i.e., the EEO matter). Third, she missed having structure in her life-a goal, a purpose, a way to 
be productive. 

Respondent testified with regard to the January 29, 2003, CIOP session that she had taken 
Neurontin the day before in the prescribed manner. She told CIOP personnel about the effects of 
N eurontin. Respondent thus attributes any perceived or actual impairment on January 29 to this 
prescription medication . 

. 31 Resp01?dent testified that she sought counseling from Dr. Vleugels as a result of 
the rescission of an offer of acceptance into a breast imaging fellowship at UCSD in late 2006. 
Vlhen respondent met Dr. Vleugels, respondent told her "about" Dr. Endow and signed a release 
so that Dr. Vleugels could secure records from the VA Respondent also told Dr. Endow about 
Dr. Vleugels and signed a release so that Dr. Endow could secure Dr. Vleugels' records. 
Respondent acknowledged that she did not advise Dr. Yleugels about all of the medications 
(specifically Ativan) she was receiving from Dr. Endow, and vice versa; respondent explained 
that she was preoccupied at the time with the rescission of her UCSD fellowship and was also 
trying to detennine which of the two providers (Dr. Endow or Dr. Vleugels) she was going to 
stay with. She stated she never intended to deceive either provider. During the three-week 

56 Respondent testified that she never told anyone that she had taken Vicodin or wine 
coolers . Negative lab test results for opiates and alcohol confirmed respondent 's testimony. 
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"transition period" (i.e., between January 12 and February 6, 2007),57 respondent expected that 
the two providers would be communicating with each other. 

32. Respondent testified that during a Disneyland trip at the end of February 2007, 58 

she had two pifia coladas during dinner one evening, woke up the next morning with a headache, 
and took Dilaudid spray in an effort to abort the headache. Respondent did not take any 
bcnzodiazepines during the Disneyland trip. Respondent was using Dilaudid about twice per 
week at this time under Dr. Tiffany's care, in contrast to four times per day that she was 
previously using that medication under Dr. Smith. She added that Dr. Vleugels never instructed 
her not to drink alcohol. Indeed, on the occasions when respondent told Dr. Vleugels that she 
had consumed alcohol, Dr. Vleugels did not show much of a reaction. 

33. With regard to the May 24, 2007 incident, respondent testified that she went to the 
emergency room because of an ear infection that was resisting treatment and whose symptoms 
were recurring and becoming very severe. She had t~en Norco earlier in the day, but not 
benzodiazepines and not Dilaudid. She had a rum and Coke that day as well, around 7:00 p.m. 
She may also have had one the previous day. At the tiine she checked into the hospital, she had 
various pains in her head, e.g., ear ache, a migraine. She did experience a degree of altered 
mental state that day, but not through abuse of medications, i.e., she took them as prescribed. 
Respondent testified that she did not tell Dr. Vleugels that she had been hospitalized secondary 

. to altered mental state--instead, respondent had a secondary diagnosis of altered mental .state. 

Respondent denied that she ever gave Dr. Vleugels permission to speak to her husband 
Mark. At some point in late February or March 2007, Dr. Vleugels informed respondent that 
Meoni had called her; Dr. Vleugels asked respondent whether she could speak to Meoni, or at 
least listen to what Meoni had to say. Respondent explicitly told Dr. Vleugels, "No," explaining 
that she had trust issues and did not want anyone to speak to her husband without she herself 
being present. · · 

34. Respondent testified that in-November 2007, for the first time, Dr. Vleugels 
suggested that sh_e see an addictionologist-as a strategy in connection with the medical board 
investigation, i.e., to be proactive, to be able to go before the medical board and prove tharshe· 
did not in fact have a substance dependency problem. Respondent did not like this idea. 

35. Respondent testified that on only two occasions did she take more m~dication 
than prescribed or in a manner other than as prescribed: The Xanax incident of December 16, 
2002, and an occasion when she took a Vicodin dose earlier-relative to her last dose-than was 
prescribed. She stated that when she took Neurontin under the care ofDr. Becerra, and her 
dosage was increased from 900 to 1200 mg, it caused her to become sleepy and groggy, but it did 
help to relieve her headaches. She disclosed these side effects to Dr. Becerra. Whenever 

57 Respondent's first session with Dr. Vleugels was on January 12; her last with Dr. 
Endow was February 6, though she technically remained Dr. Endow's patient until March 13. 

58 The February 26, 2007, incident about which Dr. Vleugels testified occun-ed during the 
Disneyland trip. 
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respondent was or appeared sedated, it was the result of having taken her medications in the 
prescribed manner. Since she was not practicing at the time, she did not think the side effects of 
her medication were a problem with regard to the practice of medicine. 

Respondent testified that during 2006 and 2007, she dranl< alcohol on a social basis, i.e., 
less than one drink per day. 

36. Respondent testified that she did not carefully read the opioid infonned consent 
contract she signed at the San Diego Pain Management Center. In particular, she stated she did 
not read the requirement that she only obtain opiates from the PMC. Further, she believed the 
medication she received from Dr. Umansky for post-operative pain was unrelated to the 
headache medication she received from the PMC. She conceded that she did not advise Dr. 
Tiffany about the medication she received from Dr. Urnansky, and vice versa. 

37. Respondent testified that the filling of Dr. Umansky's Vicodin prescription on 
July 19 was a mistake: Her husband picked up the prescription, not knowing that she herself had 
already picked it up the preceding day. Respondent's testimony thus implies a claim that the 
phannacy mistakenly filled the same prescription twice. 

38. Respondent testified that she has taken no Benzodiazepines since March 2007, 
and has taken no opiates since December 2007. The CURES reports confirm her testimony. 
Today, respondent deals with the stressors in her life by exercise, various mind/body techniques 
such as biofeedback and deep breathing, and with the assistance of a psychologist. She deals 
with her migraine headaches by taking beta blockers, which she recently started, and by taking 
Fioricet and Frova as needed. 

39. Respondent testified that she has never missed work because of a headache. Her 
headaches do not cause her "functional impairment." She added that when she was Director of 
Radiology at Promise, she had the majority of coverage, and was responsible for obtaining 
coverage when she was not available. However, other radiologists were also available, and, in 
addition, she always had one day off per week. Accordingly, respondent took issue with a 
statement by Dr. Vleugels that respondent was on call "24/7." 

40. At times during her testimony, respondent was argumentative; she seemed to be 
advocating on behalf of herself, and to be providing more-or different-infonnation than the 
question asked for. 

Documents Submitted by Respondent 

41. In her medical board pre-interview questionnaire signed on December 17, 2007, 
which respondent signed under penalty of perjury, declaring that the infonnation provided was 
"true, complete and accurate," respondent was asked, inter alia, the following questions: 

a. "To your knowledge, have you ever been the subject of an investigation? 
If yes, by whom and under what circumstances." In response, respondent checked the "Yes" box 
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and wrote, "Sexual harassment in the Navy." 

According to Dr. Ricciardi's discharge summary in connection with respondent's 
December 11, 2002, inpatient hospitalization, respondent referred to "[a]llegations within the 
military of drug-seeking behavior, hit-and-run motor vehicle accident ...." 

Respondent denied that she had ever been investigated by the Navy for a hit and run 
accident. She stated that Dr. Ricciardi 's report inaccurately referred to such an investigation. 
However, a reference to hit and run charges against respondent also appears in NMCSD records 
of respondent's December 16, 2002 hospitalization. With regard to allegations that respondent 
and another colleague in the Navy had improperly written each other medication prescriptions, 
respondent testified that she considered these allegations to be within the scope of the sexual 
harassment issue, and she thus felt her general reference to sexual harassment provided sufficient 
detail. 

b. "Have you ever had a chemical dependency, alcohol or substance abuse 
problem?" In response, respondent checked the "No" box. 

Respondent testified that she did not consider the Xanax incident of December 16, 2002, 
to constitute a substance abuse problem. She explained that substance abuse implied (to her) a 
diagnosis or struggle. She thus considered her answer to this question to be truthful. 

42. In a letter to the board dated September 30, 2008, respondent stated, inter alia, 
that "I have never had a single problem at work or any complaint against me in my personal or 
professional life." 

Testimony ofMark Meoni 

43. Respondent's husband Mark Meoni testified that during the late 2002 to early 
2003 time period, near the time when the EEO report came out, respondent was taking 
medications for anxiety and headaches, was having great difficulty sleeping, and was drowsy on 
occasion. She was nevertheless able to take care of her family responsibilities, except at those 
times when she checked herself into the hospital. Meoni stated that he never saw respondent 
sedated or somnolent. He never observed her abusing any medication. In 2003, respondent went 
back to work in the civilian sector, she was able to put the Navy and the EEO investigation 
behind her, and she felt more confident and generally better. 

Meoni testified that he did not like his wife taking Dilaudid, because it would "make her 
a little sleepy," and was potentially addictive. He asked her to find some other medication to 
take instead. At one point, Meoni took respondent's Dilaudid away from her-not because she 
was abusing it, but because it made her sleepy. 

Meoni testified that when he spoke to Dr. Vleugels about respondent's medication, his 
main concern and the medication he specifically mentioned to Dr. Vleugels was Dilaudid. He 
did not express concern about respondent mixing alcohol and medication. If he used the phrase 
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"in denial," he was using it with regard to Dilaudid. 

Meoni testified that the family never planned to implement an "intervention" to help 
respondent stop using medications or alcohol through some form of rigorous treatment. 

Meoni seemed to slant his testimony in favor of his wife. His testimony in explanation of 
various matters was not always convincing, and at times was rather vague. He seemed to 
downplay the extent of his concern about his wife's condition at different times in the past. He 
seemed at times to try to steer away from subjects that he perhaps felt would be detrimental to 
his wife's case. 

Expert Witnesses 

44. Timothy Botello, M.D., graduated from the UCLA Medical School in 1979, 
where the same year he also earned a Master's Degree in Public Health. He completed an 
internship at Harbor General-UCLA Hospital in 1980, and a residency in psychiatry at the 
UCLANeuropsychiatricinstitutein 1983. HewasChiefResidentfrom 1982to 1983. He 
completed a forensic psychiatry fellowship at the USC Institute of Psychiatry in 1984. He has 
been licensed to practice medicine in California since 1981. He has been Board certified in 
Psychiatry since 1985, in Forensic Psychiatry since 1991, and in Addiction Psychiatry in 1997. 
He has been affiliated with the University of Southern California since 1983, first as a clinical 
instructor, and subsequently as an Assistant, Associate, and, for the past 10 years, a full Professor 
of Clinical Psychology. He has had experience teaching medical students, residents, and forensic 
psychiatry fellows. He provides training in general psychiatry matters, and.in particular 
substance abuse and dependency problems. Among his many and varied administrative 
responsibilities, Dr. Botello has served at Los Angeles County USC Medical Center as a member 
of the Psychiatric Ethics Education Committee, as Chair of the Quality Assessment and 
Improvement Committee for the Department of Psychiatry, and as a member of the Physician 
Well-Being Committee. 

45. In addition to conducting an interview of respondent on May 171 2008, Dr. 
Botello reviewed numerous documents, including respondent's CURES history, and the medical 
records of Dr. Endow, Dr. V1eugels, Dr. Umansky, Dr. Tiffany, Dr. Ricciardi and others. 

46. Based on his review of the records, and his interview with respondent, Dr. Botello 
reached certain opinions. It is his view that respondent has a documented history and DSM-IV­
TR diagnosis of abuse ofbenzodiazepines and narcotic pain medications (opiates). 
Respondent's abuse of these medications has been compounded at times by her consumption of 
alcohol. Her abusive behavior has led to a number of episodes of oversedation and altered 
mental status. Her abusive behavior is comorbid with other mental disorders, specifically major 
depression, general anxiety disorder, and by chronic migraine headaches. Her abusive behavior 
is further complicated by her use of medications to address these other mental and physical 
conditions. It is Dr. Botello's opinion that respondent has used prescription medication and/or 
alcohol in such a manner as to be dangerous to herself 
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Dr. Botello based the foregoing opinions on a number of matters contained in her medical 
records, including: Evidence of impai1ment (e.g.) slurred speech, sedation) reflected in medical 
records of certain providers, such as Drs. Endow and Vleugels; respondent's use of 
benzodiazepines and narcotics obtained from more than one source (e.g., Hydrocodone from 
both Dr. Umansky and Dr. Tiffany in mid 2007); her failure to advise each provider of her use of 
medications prescribed by other providers (and in particular her failure to abide by her pain 
management contract with the San Diego Pain Management Center); the concerns expressed by 
respondent's husband to Dr. Vleugels; the incident of May 24, 2007 (including the diagnoses 
reflected in the relevant records); respondent's desire to try Fentanyl "pops," a strong narcotic; 
her filling of Hydrocodone prescriptions on two days "back to back" (i.e., July 18 and 19, 2007); 
the hospitalizations of December 2002 and January 2003; and respondent's drinking of alcohol 
while taking medications, contrary to Dr. Vleugels' advice. 

Dr. Botello also fonned the opinion that respondent is impaired with regard to her ability 
to practice medicine safely. This opinion was based on a number of factors considered 
collectively: Her depression and anxiety disorders, the medications she has taken to treat them 
(benzodiazepines), her migraine headaches, the medications she has taken to treat them (opiates), 
the abuse of these various medications, which has led to several instances of sedation and altered 
mental state, and her family history of alcohol abuse.59 Notably, Dr. Botello's opinion was not 
explicitly based on respondent's conduct or statements or on any observations he made during 
his interview ofrespondent: instead, it was based on historical information. 

Dr. Botello also expressed the opinion that respondent has engaged in unprofessional 
conduct by failing to adhere t9 the pain management contract, which led to episodes of 
oversedation. He opined that if respondent misrepresented her alcohol consumption to a 
physician, or used alcohol contrary to the directive of a physician, these matters would also 
constitute unprofessional conduct, because ofher complicated family and medical history and 
because it was necessary that her treating physician have acc~ate knowledge about what drugs 
and alcohol she was ingesting. 

47. David J. Sheffner, M.D..Irec~vedtiis1nedica}degree in 1968 from the UCLA 
Medical School. He completed his int.ern.s~~inirit¢!11lial meo~rie at L,.A., .· Ge11eral 
Hospital in 1969, and his residency inpsycFii~ aflheUCLA.Medical SQb®l artment of 
Psychiatry in 1972. He completed a fellowshipin legal psycb.iatry at the s-arne institution in 
1973. Dr. Sheffner is board certified in psycfl.j;jry and forensic psychiatry,. He has been in full­
time private practice since 1974. He p1cevip.ti.~~~ttv!il~ is arl ~,istant cli:rii~.professot of 
psychiatry at UC Irvine. He was a pastChain11an, Legal Psychiatry Comhiittee, Southei11 
California Psychiatry Society He is a member of the Ethics Committee, Orange County 
f s:;::l1iatry and of the f":'.hics c:orrnn:ltcc, /\rricrican (\ cademy of J':•; · atry and 

served m: ,, c:onsultant ior 
pas: 30 years. 

59 \1/ith rc'•:mJ to the 1n,iticrs that took r ,:cc in late ? to ernlv , Dr, Botello 
·ts,,'ied tbal his ,,pinions were U,ic.itfecl.cd b) :r1::· that rt:c:poncknt \,vas LO" prnct1cn1g ut '.lie 
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48. Dr. Sheffner reviewed Dr. Botello's report He also reviewed certain medical 
records.60 He met with respondent twice, for a total of seven hours. He asked respondent, as a 
"homework" assignment, to write down her response to each of 46 points raised in Dr. Botello's 
report, which he then went over with her. Dr. Sheffner expressed concern that Dr. Botello's 
report did not include respondent's version of the events. 

Dr. Sheffner testified that he felt it was important to interview respondent's husband, and 
that he· did so. He also met with Dr. Tiffany, and spoke with Dr. Becerra and another of 
respondent's physicians, Dr. Rudolph, by phone. Dr. Sheffner did not contact Dr. Vleugels, 
explaining that since respondent waaJming her, he assumed she would not want to meet with 
him. He did not contact Dr. Hicks, because he had not seen his records and would not want to 
talk to him until he had had an opportunity to review them. He did not contact Dr. Ricciardi, 

. because the events were so remote in time and there was so little data that he had doubts as to 
what information Dr. Ricciardi would be able to add to what was in his records. He did not 
contact Dr. Endow because he felt he understood her records (her records spoke for themselves), 
and he did not find any reference in her records to drug abuse. 

Dr. Sheffner testified that he reviewed certain reference letters submitted by colleagues of 
respondent. These letters were significant to him, because, in Dr, Sheffner's view, the truest test 
ofone's ability to function is to examine the area of functioning that is of concern. 

. Dr. Sheffner testified that he conducted two psychological tests on respondent, an MMPI 
II61 and a personality assessment inv ·.•· ·· Hecon~i~ tµc~MPir~ultifto be 
significant (a "data point"), but not the regard to·tfre;MMPI, r•ndent1·~eiFv:eda 
low score on the McAndrews AlOQhol Sl)b$q~~ jm;iic~tinettnltthe did 11e>thJv~ the:P,et$Q~ity 
characteristics and MMPI findings that~n!tliWithsubst~;eorajcpholabl.laei l,e$pondkau 
also had low scores on MMPI scales cqp-datmg to persqns whoaremanipula.tive. The PAI 
results suggested respondent maynotuve ~i~rociina o.~l~ti¥fOrthr:ipt lllfflltler, Le,.;that 
respondent tended to present herself in afovmf,le light; and appemd reluctant to admit to any 
minor fault, thus minimizing areas whereherflmctioning mightbeless than optimum. 

· 49. Dr. Sheffner testified that he µid1:1ot believe resp<:mc}e:nt was mentally ill. He 
elaborated that he saw no data suppo~g a~t osisofb~iazepine or other 
substance abuse. He explained that the'Decimber 1 02.Xanaxepisode was too remote in 
time to establish such a diagnosis. The Oec~bc;r 2()02 and Januacy 2003 incidents of sedation 
also did not support a substance abuse diagnosis/again becaiise oftheir remoteness in time, and 
also because of the brief time period inv1olvepc{as weU as thl ftct t!iatXanax and 
Neurontin/Topomax in combination may produce sedation eve11 when taken as prescribed. 

60 Dr. Sheffner did not directly, explicitly, or precisely identify the records that he 
reviewed. · 

61 MMPI refers to the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory. 
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Dr. Sheffner described certain indicia of substance abuse, which he apparently did not 
believe respondent exhibited, or exhibited sufficiently to support a diagnosis: A pattern of 

· chronic abuse, doctor shopping, behavior manifestations of abuse ( e.g., talking too much or 
inappropriately, impulse control, drowsiness, belligerence). Dr. Sheffner stated that if 
respondent was a drug abuser, she would not have volunteered to Dr. Vleugels that she drank, or 
that she drank while taking medication, or that she took medications other than those prescribed 
by Dr. Vleugels. Respondent's signing ofreciprocal releases for the medical records of Dr. 
Endow and Dr. Vleugels was also inconsistent with physician shopping. 

Dr. Sheffner testified concerning the CURES report. He observed that in 2005, 
respondent filled no Norco prescriptions between June and November, and that the Vicodin 
prescriptions of Dr. Umansky filled in November were within normal limits. Respondent did not 
thereafter fill any Norco prescription until January 3, 2006. To Dr. Sheffner, this history did not 
look like that of a drug-seeking or doctor-shopping individual. In Dr. Sheffner's opinion, Dr. 
Berry's prescription in 2007 of 16 Vicodin for ear pain was an isolated instance of securing the 
same medication from two physicians (the other being Dr. Tiffany). With regard to Dr. 
Umansky' s several Vicodin prescriptions in July and August 2007, Dr. Sheffner assessed them in 
the broader context of all Vicodin and Norco prescribed to respondent during the period from 
May to August 2007. During that period, prescriptions totaling an equivalent of 330 Norco 
tablets were filled by respondent. Assuming she consumed all of those 330 Norco equivalent 
tablets, that worked out to about 3.7 Norco tablets per day, which is within normal limits. 

Dr. Sheffner conceded that respondent departed from the PMC opioid agreement. 
However, in order to determine whether violating the contract is a manifestation of drug abuse, 
one must examine the entirety of the data. Dr. Sheffner added that violating the contract did not 
constitute unprofessional conduct in his view, unless (as he did not believe to be the case) it was 
a manifestation of substance abuse-absent that, it was not related to respondent's practice of 
medicine. In Dr. Sheffner's view, unprofessional conduct requires some reasonable notice to the 
licensee that the behavior in question is unacceptable-he does not believe such reasonable 
notice exists as to the violation of an opioid agreement. 

Dr. Sheffner testified to the absence of evidence that respondent presently has general 
anxiety disorder accompanied by such severe symptoms as would render her impaired. 
Similarly, he testified that respondent's depression is not now sufficiently severe to be impairing. 
He added that respondent's_ MMPI score was within nmmal limits for depression. 

50. Sheffner testified that respondent was impaired due to substance abuse (a Xanax 
overdose) on December 16, 2002, and that such impainnent amounted to unprofessional conduct. 

51. Sheffner testified in an especially careful, detailed, thoughtful, aiiiculate, and 
precise maimer. 
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Medical Character Witnesses 

52. Steve Rinds berg, M.D., has been the Chairman of the Department of Radiology at 
Sharp Rees-Stealy Medical Group since 2002. He has worked with respondent several times a 
month. He considers her to be "very skilled at what she does," and "an excellent general 
radiologist." He is "extremely comfortable" with the procedures she performs for. Sharp.· Her 
interaction with staff is "great." Staffis very fond of her. Patients are "very comfortable with 
her." Other radiologists are always very happy when they know respondent is going to be 
present. Dr. Rindsberg does not believe respondent's migraine headaches affect her ability to 
work. In the past five years, he has never had occasion to question her medical judgment, has 
never seen her impaired, and has never suspected her to abuse medication. He has read the 
accusation in almost its entirety; he was "shocked and surprised" to read the allegations, as he 
has never seen any of that sort ofbehavior on respondent's part. 

Dr. Rindsberg testified that respondent began working at Sharp in approximately 
February 2004, on a Iocum tenens basis,62 starting at several days per month. Her employment 
gradually increased in frequency. For about a year until January 2009, respondent worked 
regularly on Mondays and Fridays. Once the accusation was filed, he had to curtail her schedule, 
based on a directive from the Medical Director. The credentialing committee never changed her 
status. She continues to work at Sharp on occasion,·when the department is short-s_taffed. 

53. George Scher, M.D., has been a staff radiologist at Sharp since 1983. He was the 
director of radiology for 20 years, until 2002, when he went to part-time status and was 
succeeded as chair by Dr. Rindsberg. · 

Dr. Scher testified that he has known respondent for about five years, i.e., since she came 
to Sharp. She has worked at the_ same facility where he works. He has observed her perform 
certain procedures and has reviewed some of the x-rays that she has read. He considers her an 
"excellent radiologist," who does an "excellent job" in relating with staff, peers, patients, and 
families. He has never noticed her migraine headaches cause any problems in terms of her work, 
has never questioned her medical judgment, has never seen her impaired, and has never 
suspected her of substance abuse. He has briefly read the accusation and has observed no 
behavior such as that alleged therein. 

54. Michael McKenna, M.D., is an anesthesiologist who has practiced off and on at 
Promise Hospital since 1992. He testified that he has known respondent for five to six years, and 
worked with her about five times per week, when she reviewed x-rays for patients for whom Dr. 
McK.enna performed central line placements, difficult intubations and other "intensivist" 
procedures. He has observed nothing "untoward" or unusual with regard to respondent's 
interaction with patients and others, has never had a reason to question her medical judgment, 
has never seen her impaired, and has never suspected her to abuse alcohol or medications. 

62 Locum tenens refers to the practice whereby a physician fills in for another physician 
when the latter is not available on _a given day. 
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55. Robert Haynes, M.D., a Sharp radiologist, has known respondent since 2005. He 
used to work with her about three times per week, though more recently he has worked with her 
between once per week and once per month. 63 The last time he worked with her was about three 
months before the hearing. Both Dr. Hayes and respondent work at Sharp on a part-time basis. 

Dr. Haynes testified .that respondent has "superlative" technical skills as a radiologist. He 
has also observed her interaction with patients, families, and staff. She is conscientious, pleasant 
and courteous. He has never seen her in a bad mood. 

Dr. Haynes testified that he became aware ofrespondent's migraine headaches in late 
2008 or early 2009, when she mentioned to him in passing one day that she had a headache. He 
has never seen her impaired, has never questioned her medical judgment, and has never 
suspected that she was ovennedicated. 

56. Judith Choonoo has worked at Promise Hospital as an ultrasound stenographer 
since 2000, first as a contractor and then, since December 2007, as a full-time employee. 

Choonoo testified that she met respondent at Promise in November 2003, and worked 
with her three to four times per week until respondent left Promise in August 2008. Choonoo 
considers respondent an excellent radiologist. Her interaction with staff and patients is very 
professional, compassionate, well-mannered, friendly and respectful. Choonoo has never 
questioned respondent's medical judgment or suspected her of being impaired. Choonoo was not 
aware that respondent had migraine headaches. 

Ultimate Findings 

57. Respondent used prescription medication in such a manner as to be dangerous to 
herself, in violation of Business and Professions Code section 2239, subdivision (a), by virtue of 
her ingestion ofXanax on December 16, 2002, in a quantity substantially in excess of that 
permitted in her prescription. 

The evidence bearing on respondent's abuse of prescription medication is of three basic 
types: (i) Specific episodes of sedation, altered mental state and other, similar behavioral indicia 
of impainnent and medication abuse; (ii) respondent's prescription history, including her receipt 
of certain medications from more than one source and her failure to disclose this fact to each 
provider; and (iii) the perceptions and opinions expressed by respondent's treating providers and 
the parties' retained expert witnesses. 

Specific behavioral episodes. The majority of the incidents in question occun-ed in late 
2002 or early 2003, as reported by Dr. Hicks, CIOG's Kathleen Flanigan, and in the records of 
respondent's four inpatient hospitalizations. While the rep01ied matters suggested possible 

63 Dr. Haynes explained that "working with" respondent meant that they were at work on 
the same day, in their own work stations, across the hall from one another, and that throughout 
the course of the day they discussed cases and showed each other images that they are reviewing. 
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impainnent due to improper use of medication, the evidence reflected that sedation and related 
conditions could also have been the result ofrespondent's use of her medications ( e.g., Neurotin, 
Toparnax, Xanax) in accordance with her prescriptions. Further, as to the inpatient 
hospitalizations, on none of the four occasions did respondent's discharge diagnosis include drug 
abuse or dependency. More recently (in 2007), Dr. Endow noted one occasion when respondent 
had slurred speech and seemed unsteady on her feet, which she attributed to respondent's 
Lorazepam use. Dr. Endow conceded that at least slurred speech could be a side effect of proper 
Lorazepam use. Finally, with regard to respondent's May 24, 2007, hospitalization, and because 
of the substantial-and possibly severe-pain respondent experienced in connection therewith, it 
cannot be inferred that any altered mental state she manifested at that time resulted from 
improper use of medication. 

Of greater concern are the statements attributed to respondent's husband Mark Meoni 
(and possibly other family members) by Dr. Hicks and Dr. Vleugels about respondent's 
medication-related impainnent at home. Not only did two different psychiatrists, with no 
relationship to one another, report the same basic concerns on Meoni 's part, but these reports 
were over four years apart. Meoni 's testimony in denial of most of these matters came across to· 
some extent as an attempt to explain away or even retract statements he had made earlier and is 
not credible. While Dr. Hicks's demeanor raised concerns about his credibility, that of Dr. 
Vleugels did not-and, in addition, her contemporaneous chart notes describing Meoni's 
comments supported her credibility. Further, and regardless of Meoni 's denials, it is undisputed 
that he initiated contact with Dr. Vleugels because of his concern about his wife's use of at least 
one strong opioid medication, and that at one point he physically took that one medication away 
from respondent so that she could not use it. On the other hand, Meoni is not a physician, and 
regardless of any subjective belief on his part about his wife's condition, his perception or 
understanding as to any impairment he may have thought he detected, not to mention the 
reason(s) for such impairment ( e.g., proper use vs. abuse of medication), must be taken with a 
certain degree of circumspection. 

Prescription history. Particular concern is raised by respondent's receipt of 
benzodiazepines from both Dr. Endow and Dr. Vleugels, and her receipt of opioids from both the 
PMC and Dr. Umansky/Dr. Berry, in both cases without respondent disclosing to each 
practitioner her receipt of medications from the other(s). With regard to opioids, further concern 
is raised by respondent's direct violation of her PMC opioid consent agreement. However, none 
of these matters directly prove medication abuse-they merely constitute circumstantial evidence 
that would provide some support for such a finding. In fact, only one specific, significant 
incident of actual drug abuse is reflected in the record: respondent's ingestion of multiple Xanax 
pills on December 16, 2002. 64 Further, as to the benzodiazepine prescriptions, respondent freely 

64 Respondent's admitted taking of two Vicodin tablets without waiting the proper time 
interval between the two was an isolated and insignificant occurrence. Her utilization of two 
Fentanyl "pops" at a time when her prescription called for only one causes greater concern, but 
that concern is substantially reduced by two additional factors: (i) Respondent's voluntary 
disclosure of this fact to Dr. Tiffany; and (ii) Dr. Tiffany's subsequent modification of 
respondent's prescription, which reflected his judgment that two pops at a time was in fact an 
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disclosed to Dr. Vleugels at the outset that she had been seeing Dr. Endow, and she subsequently 
executed reciprocal releases for both providers. And, with one exception, respondent did not fill 
any benzodiazepine prescription from Dr. Endow after she filled her first such prescription from 
Dr. Vleugels. 65 As to the opioid prescriptions, the duplication resulted from discrete incidents of 
unrelated medical treatment for which pain medication was prescribed. The medication 
.prescribed by Dr. Berry (16 Vicodin tablets) was not of great significance. The medication 
prescribed by Dr. Umansky was certainly substantial, but Dr. Sheffner's unrebutted testimony 
was that, assuming respondent ingested all Norco and Vicodin respondent received from any 
source between May and August 2007, the average amount ingested per day would have been 
within nonnal limits. Finally, respondent has not filled any benzodiazepine or opiate 
prescriptions since March and December 2007 respectively. 

Respondent's receipt ofbenzodiazepine and opioid medications from multiple sources 
without disclosing these facts to the providers in question cannot be condoned or justified. 
However, the issue at this point is whether or to what extent these matters imply abuse of 
medication. As to this question, the evidence is decidedly mixed, i.e., some of the evidence 
suggests drugs abuse, but other evidence does not. Tlie record as a whole is inconclusive. 

Treating providers and expert,iffl_itn.es_~, Witb;reg.tdto treating pbysici~ftiPd ~ers, 
the evidence again is mixed. Dr. Hickstea:choo theoonclusion; orllyaftet f'our-arla,;;;a:.ha.lfyears 
of treatment, that respondent had >a d.i~osis 9~pol¥~tance a.b~~; Pr. :R.tQC· · 
same time noted "substance abuse" aij an 11itn~$si(jti[" His cliart not¢ prf:;)Vi 
as to how he came to that conclusio~ut :fromthejiontent ofthe llQte it RtJY.beCiijf;rr 
relied heavily on statements made by others, including family members and the diagnosis of_br 
Hicks. In contrast, Dr. Becerra, Dr. Endow·, Dr. Tiffany, Dr. Umansky, and Dr. Vleugels did not 
diagnose respondent with ant kind of substance abuse, and in most instances never even 
suspected such a condition.6 . 

Dr. Botello and Dr. Sheffner were both highly-qualified expert~, who testified in a 
professional, objective, and otherwise generally credible manner. Each emphasized or focused 
on somewhat distinct aspects of the evidence bearing on whether respondent had abused 
medication. Overa.11, Dr. Sheffner's testimony seemed slightly more persuasive-in particular 
witb regard to his analysis of the CURES report and the inferences that could or could not 
reasonably be drawn from respondent's pre§9ription history. Even Dr. Sheffner conceded, 
however, that respondent had abused medication on one occasion, i.e., when she overdosed on 
·xanax on December 16, 2002. 

appropriate dose. The related issue of respondent's use of alcohol and medications together 
despite Dr. Vleugels' cautions to the contrary is considered below in Finding 5 9. 

65 Respondent did not fill her first benzodiazepine prescription from Dr. Vleugels until 
February 24, 2007; she received one such prescription from Dr. Endow two days later, which 
respondent explained to be the result of the VA continuing to send prescriptions to her 
automatically. 

66 Dr. Vleuge1s' one-time reference to "benzo abuse" (without the question mark) 
reflected no more than a temporary concern, which Dr. Vleugels soon abandoned. 
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Conclusion. While the evidence as a whole raised considerable and troubling concerns 
about the existence and extent ofrespondent's medication abuse at various times, substantial 
evidence weighed in the other direction. Further, the force of the evidence that supported a 
finding of abuse was in many cases attenuated by reasonable inferences of non-abuse that could 
also be drawn. Accordingly, based on the entirety of the record, it was not established by clear 
and convincing evidence that respondent violated section 2239, subdivision (a), except with 
regard to the December 16, 2002 incident. 

58. Respondent's ability to practice medicine is not impaired because of a mental 
illness or a physical illness affecting competency pursuant to Business and Professions Code 
section 822. 

This Finding is based in part of the matters set forth above in Finding 57, and in 
particular the finding that respondent used prescription medication in a manner dangerous to 
herself on only one occasion, which occun-ed over six years ago. Though Dr. Hicks testified that 
a substance abuse diagnosis can follow or remain with an individual even during periods of non­
use, he did not attempt to assess the likelihood of that happening in respondent's case. Further, a 
potential inclination to substance abuse must be distinguished from actual relapse. 

Of course, a finding under section 822 need not be based on substance abuse, but may be 
based on a proper use of prescription medication, either alone or in combination with other 
matters. It is clear from the record that respondent went through an extremely difficult and 
painful period of great personal struggle in December 2002 and, to a lesser extent, the several 
months thereafter. She was hospitalized on a psychiatric basis four times in less than a month, 
overdosed on medication at one point, suffered from severe depression, and to one extent or 
another considered taking her own life. It may well be that respondenf s ability to practice 
medicine was impaired within the meaning of section 822 at that time. At issue here, however, is 
not whether respondent was impaired in 2002, but whether she is impaired at present, six years 
later, after a great deal of medical and psychological treatment, and living under very different 
circumstances than those with which she had then to cope. Notably in this regard, Dr. Botello's 
opinion that respondent is presently impaired due to mental illness was not based on any 
observations he made during his examfoation of her, and he did not seek or receive any input 
from other persons as to respondent's present circumstances or condition. Instead, his opinion 
appeared to be based solely on matters of a historical nature, i.e., his review of the medical 
records. Dr. Sheffner's contrary opinion took into account respondent's present condition, as 
well as the opinions of other persons who know her, in particular her professional colleagues. 
Indeed, the opinions of respondent's numerous colleagues who testified at the hearing provided 
significant evidence that respondent is not presently impaired with regard to the practice of 
medicine. Finally, even Dr. Vleugels, who filed the board complaint against respondent, did not 
reach the conclusion that respondent was impaired. Instead, she could only state that 
respondent's alcohol and prescription drug use Hmay impair her ability to work." Accordingly, 
based on the entirety of the record, and even though respondent still suffers in a substantial way 
from depression, anxiety, and migraine headaches, it was not established by clear and convincing 
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evidence that these or any other mental or physical conditions presently impair respondent's 
ability to practice medicine. 

59. Re~pondent engaged in unprofessional conduct in violation of section 223.4, 
subdivision (a). 

This finding is derivative in nature, based solely on the finding of a violation of section 
2239, subdivision (a), as set forth above. 

Dr. Botello in essence testified that respondent also engaged in unprofessional conduct on . 
an independent basis by: (i) Violating the opioid .consent agreement with PMO; (U)u~ingalcohol 
and benzodiazepines against the directive of Dr. Vleugels; and (iii) 1msrepr~$entilltO Dr, 
Endow that she was not using alcohol. 67 Dr. Sheffner opined to the coµtr~ that respondent did 
not engage in professional conduct on the basis of any of these three matters. 

With regard to the first point, neither Dr. Botello nor Dr. Sheffll:er provided a11entirely 
persuasive rationale for their opinions. However, Dr. Sheffner's pointthatunpro~onal 
conduct requires reasonable notice to the licensee that the behavior iuquestio~ is una-cceptable 
seems well taken, at least as applied here, where it was not establishedtbatreij>oruient's non­
adherence to the consent agreement was a manifestation of drug abuse. 

With regard to the second point, Dr. Vleugels' statements, which can best be 
characterized as general "cautions" to respondent about the use c,f alcohol, did not constitute the 
clear proscriptions against aJcohol U$e~.,t i!l:Glteori~ed trieyw~re. This 
understanding of the evidence is suppt')rted undisputed fact that respondent more than 
once freely disclosed her consumptiqnofe.1~9lt0Pr.Vle~. Theiat'ter's records do not 
reflect that she ever responded to suelliltiselcii~ 'f>yft>rci•:dlitiiyw~n.g respondent against such 
use of alcohol. Finally, Dr. Sheffner~soiJsefy~tjomt with re!Q1ro toresp:ondent's violation of the 
opiate consent agreement apply even~e tc,~ornient's ilimre to at'.llien:1o Dr. Vleugels' 
informaJ caution regarding alcohol a:hdmedication. 

With regard to the third pointjtbe evi~~= did not •tiblish that respc>nd.ent 
misrepresented her alcohol use to Dr, :Endow. F'o,r tb,¢reasqg3 ppte<i earlier,Dr, Eµdow's chart 
notes are of little probative value in OO~~garti. F'U.•\tbe~rdastwh:ole.cl~ly establishes 
respondent's habitual willingness to discloseher consumption of afoo:hol. 

Accordingly, based on the entirety cfthe record, it was not established by clear and 
convincing evidence that respondent~g~gerq.in µnprofessiotllijpond,uct in Ill}'.ofthese three 
independent respects. Otherwisesta:t~ithasnot beeri~tablistiedtbjtrespondent in this regard 
engaged in conduct which is unbecontjllcg to a1nember of in good ~ing ofthe medj cal 
profession, and which demonstrates un•e~topractice medicine. (Sfrea v; Board ofMedical 
Examiners (1978) 81 Cal.App.3d 564, 575.) · 

67 Dr. Botel1o did not in all instances explicitly state respondent acted unprofessionally, 
but he at least opined that such conduct, if it occurred, would constitute unprofessional conduct. 
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Burden and Standard a/Proof 

l. "The purpose of an administrative proceeding concerning the revocation or 
suspension of a license is not to punish the individual; the purpose is to protect the public from 
dishonest, immoral, disreputable or incompetent practitioners." (Ettinger v. Board ofMedical 
Quality Assurance (1982) 139 Cal.App.3d 853, 856.) 

2. Absent a statute to the contrary, the burden of proof in disciplinary administrative 
proceedings rests upon the party making the charges. (Parker v. City ofFountain Valley (1981) 
127 Cal.App.3d 99, 113; Evid. Code, § 115.) The burden of proof in this proceeding is thus on 
complainant. 

3. The standard of proof in administrative disciplinary proceedings brought against 
professional licensees to establish unprofessional conduct is "clear and convincing proof to a 
reasonable certainty." (James v. Board ofDental Examiners (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d l 096, 
I.105.) 

The "clear and convincing" standard of proof applies to the issue of whether physician's 
ability to practice medicine competently is impaired due to mental or physical illness under 
Business and Professions Code section 822. (Medical Board ofCalifornia v. Superior Court 
(Liskey) (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 163, 170-171.) 

4, "The key element of clear and convincing evidence is that it must establi17h a high 
probability of the existence of the disputed fact, greater than proof by a preponderance of the 
evidence." (People v. Mabini (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 654, 662.) This standard is less stringent 
than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (Ettinger v. Board ofMedical Quality Assurance, supra, 
135 Cal.App.3d at 856.) 

Motion in Limine to Exclude Expert Testimony 

5. On May 7, 2009, complainant filed a motion in limine seeking "to exclude the 
expert testimony of each of respondent's six expert witnesses, on the grounds that respondent has 
violated the mandatory expert witness disclosure requirements of [Business and Professions 
Code] section 2334." The motion was based primarily on the following arguments: (i) Contrary 
to the requirements of section 2334, respondent's expert witness disclosure did not occur at least 
30 calendar days before the commencement of the hearing; and (ii) the mandatory penalty for the 
failure to comply on a timely basis with the requirements of section 2334 is the automatic 
exclusion of the offending party's expert testimony. Complainant also contended that: (iii) 
Respondent's expert disclosures failed to comply with the requirements of section 2334 in other 
respects than timeliness (e.g., the description of the expected testimony of respondent's experts); 
and (iv) respondent's various failures to comply with the requirements of section 2334 were 
highly prejudicial to complainant's ability to prepare for the hearing, 
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6. Respondent has violated the requirements of section 2334 in two respects. First, 
respondent failed to provide its expert witness disclosure within 30 calendar days prior to the 
commencement of the hearing. On March 5, 2009, OAH granted respondent's motion to 
continue the hearing, and set the hearing to commence on May 14, 2009. Based on that h~aring 
date, and pursuant to section 2334, subdivision (a), expert witness disclosure was to be made no 
later than April 14, 2009. Respondent did not, however, make her formal disclosure until April 
30, 2009. 68 For purposes of the motion in limine, respondent's disclosure is deemed to have 
been 16 days late. 69 It is thus concluded that respondent's disclosure was untimely. 

Second, respondent failed, as to two of its experts, to provide "a brief narrative statement 
of the general substance of the testimony that the expert is expected to give, including any 
opinion testimony and its basis." Complainant argued essential1y that the descriptions provided 
in respondent's disclosure were not adequate to meaningfully inform complainant of the actual 
substance of the expected testimony of respondent's experts, including the expe1is' actual 
opinions and the bases therefor. Complainant's argume\1,t is rejected with regard to William 
Umansky and Luis Becerra. The desc1iption of the expected testimony of these individuals as set 
forth in respondent's disclosure did not constitute the kind of testimony that is typically 
considered "expert testimony," i.e., as described, it did not consist of forrnai expert opinions, but 
instead involved the physician's course of care of respondent.70 As such, such testimony is 
properly characterized as' percipient witness testimony, not expert testimony per se. 71 On the 
other hand, the description of the expected testimony of Frank Tiffany and David Sheffner 
clearly involved, at least in part, the rendering of genuine expert opinions. The description of 
their testimony adequately set forth the general substance of the testimony, including opinion 
testimony, 72 but did not set forth any "basis" for such opinion testimony, and thus fails to comply · 

· 68 The analysis that follows focuses on respondent's fom1al expert witness disclosure of 
April 30, 2009. On April 16, 2009, respondent served a Final Witness and Exhibit List This list 
may be viewed as constituting respondent's initial expert witness disclosure. Under either view, 
based on the reasoning set forth below, violations of section 2334 would be found, though the 
violations would differ to a certain extent. For example, respondent did not disclose the fee to be 
charged by a11 of her experts until April 30. 

69 On April 16, 2009, Presiding Administrative Law Judge Alan R. Alvord issued a 
prehearing conference order, in which the parties were ordered to exchange the infonnation 
required by section 2334 by April 30, 2009. Complainant objected to that portion of the order 
and contended in her in limine motion that OAH lacked the authority to grant additional time 
within which to 1nake a section 2334 disclosure after the 30-day deadline bad already passed. 
For the nurposcs ruling on t};e in lin1ine · 1t 1s arg11enclo the disch)',ure 1vvas 

0L' ;)'' tYiade on 'i ·1 ')()()() 1·::-.'\V] l··1·1c:t··1n(li17(• 1,·,p J"1·e11c"r·: r•r):'1f'c,1·,,1··1r•e '..:r1., v.,, l . ,, . • , • .,.... ,, :.' .,__ , .. · · , . ,u .( , .J., r '·t--.·, ,.~.t,.., .. , .. 1.. .,(,1. .I , ,.J\. ,.. i..., i..., .\.,,·,. , A 

70 I d , ., .. . .. ' , . . l 'b d 1· ' 'ln eecl. me testnnony ot tnese two pl1ys1cians, as ccscn e aoove, was urntea to 
issues directly relating to the course of care, and did not constitute expert opinion testimony. 

71 I th · f , , ' · . d.. ' 'd , t1 . " n ,e aosence o any starutory, regu1atory or JU 1cia1 gm ance as IO r 1e meanrng en 
"experi testimony,'' recourse is to the S(\mcwhat analu.!::.::,us use of expe:-t testimony in '...:ivil 
;__,::c; pm:;uant Lu C.udc of Civil:, urc sc:·Ji'.l:l 4. 

Tl. Compiamant's conter':1ut1 that the d:s;__:osures prnvH~::: insufficient Jetail to pennit 
?: 7 
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with section 2334. 73 

7. In light of the conclusion that respondent has violated section 2334, the remedy 
for respondent's violations must now be addressed. The Administrative Law Judge denied the 
motion in lirnine and rejected exclusion of the expert testimony on the grounds that section 2334 
affords both OAH and the administrative law judge a measure of discretion with regard to the 
remedy for non-compliance to be applied in a given case, depending on the totality of the 
circumstances. 

8. The administrative law judge detennined that exclusion of respondent's expert 
witness testimony would not further the apparent legislative purpose of the statute, but would 
instead undermine the interests ofjustice, and based this conclusion on the following 
considerations. 

First, with regard to the timeliness of disclosure, even though formal disclosure did not 
occur until April 30, the identity of respondent's six experts, and at least a short description of 
the subject matter of their expected testimony, was provided on April 16, 2009, i.e., just two days 
after the April 14 deadline. 

Second, in the absence of clear guidance as to what level of detail satisfies the "brief 
narrative statement" requirement of section 2334, great caution and restraint is appropriate 
before excluding expert testimony based on a finding that a proffered description did not 
constitute an adequate "brief narrative statement." 

Third-and closely related to the preceding point-complainant did not place respondent 
on notice prior to filing the motion in limine of the alleged inadequacy of respondent's 
disclosure. 

Fourth, complainant did not establish prejudice by virtue of either the untimeliness or the 
inadequacy of respondent's disclosures. 

Fifth, no evidence was presented that respondent's failure fully to comply with section 
2334 was in bad faith, i.e., constituted a conscious attempt to "hide the ball" or otherwise 
circumvent proper disclosure. 

complainant to prepare to meet the testimony of respondent's experts at the hearing was 
unpersuasive given the absence at that time of any guidance--both for respondent and for the 
administrative law judge~-as to how "brief" the required narrative statement may be. It is not 
appropriate to retrospectively construe that adjective in an unduly narrow fashion that would in 
effect constitute .a trap for the unwary. 

73 Since respondent's other two experts, Christine Baser and Steven Rudolph, did not 
testify at the hearing, it is not necessary to address the adequacy ofrespondent's disclosures of 
their testimony. 
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Sixth, the administrative law judge presumed that the ultimate decision maker in this 
· case, the Medical Board of California, would desire to have all relevant evidence available for its 
consideration, so that it can make the most well-infonned and appropriate decision possible in 
this very important matter 

9. In her written argument and during oral argument, complainant asked the board to 
reverse the decision denying the motion in limine, exclude expert testimony as a result of that 
reversal, and, in the decision itself, designate its decision as a precedent decision. The board 
denies these requests for the following reasons. 

First, as required by law, the board has read all of the expert testimony in question as part 
of its review of the record and therefore does not believe it is appropriate, fair or equitable at this 
stage of the proceedings to attempt to "unring the bell." 

Second, there is a process set out in regulation (Title 16 CCR section 1364.40) for 
designating precedent decisions and complainant's request is inconsistent with that process. 
Complainant may certainly renew her request in the manner prescribed in that regulation. 

The board does agree with both the administrative law judge and with complainant about 
the critical need for guidance in interpreting Business and Professions Code Section 2334, in 
order to carry out the purpose for which that section was enacted, and intends to convey its 
interpretation of that section in this decision. 

10. Business and Professions Code section.2334 provides as follows: 

"(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any party unless the following information is 
exchanged in written form with counsel for the other party, as ordered by the 
Office of Administrative Hearings: 

"(1) A cuniculum vitae setting forth the qualifications of the expert. 

"(2) A brief narrative statement of the general substance of the testimony that 
the expert is expected to give, including any opinion testimony and lts basis. 

"(3) A representation that the expert has agreed to testify at the hearing. 

"(4) A statement of the expert's hourly and daily fee for providing testimony 
and for consulting with the party who retained his or her services. 

"(b) The exchange of the infonnation described in subdivision (a) shall be 
completed at least 30 calendar days prior to the commencement date of the 
hearing. 
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"(c) The Office of Administrative Hearings may adopt regulations governing 
the required exchange of the infonnation described in this section." 
(Stats. 2005, c. 674 (S.B. 23 I), § 14.) 

11. The board finds that Section 2334 governs the entire subject of expert witness 
disclosures in Medical Board cases, including the penalty to be imposed for failure to comply 
with the disclosure requirements byJhe. statutory production deadline and therefore Section 2334 
prevails over any other provision oflaj, including provisions of the Administrative Procedure 
Act (APA). Evidence of this is found in the first sentence of section 2334, subdivision (a), which 
begins with the phrase: "Notwithstandiug any other provision of law ..."This phrase is 
indicative of the Legislature's intent to have the provisions of section 2334 control 
notvvithstanding the existence of other laws that might otherwise govern the subject. (See People 
v. DeLaCruz (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 955,963 [phrase "has been read as an express legislative 
intent to have the specific statute control despite the existence of other law which might 
otherwise govern."],) 

12. A review of the legislative history of section 2334 confinns both the problem 
section 2334 was specifically enacted to address, as well as the legislative intent to place a 
mandatory obligation on the parties to make the required disclosures by the statutory deadline in 
order to promote, rather than defeat, its underlying public policy. In her Initial Report to the 
Legislature, the Medical Board's Enforcement Monitor74 described the problems that result from 
defense counsel's failure to disclose the opinions of their experts as follows: 

"As described above, MBC requires its experts to reduce their expert opinions to 
writing - and those expert opinions are immediately discoverable by the defense. 
However, defense counsel frequently instruct their experts not to reduce their 
opinions to writing so the HQE DAG has no idea of the substance of defense 
counsel's expert opinion until that expert takes the stand at the evidentiary 
hearing. 

"This practice results in the unfair 'sandbagging' of the DAG at the hearing, and 
stifles the possibility of prehearing settlement. Although true bilateral discovery 
is not a feature of administrative hearings under the Administrative Procedure 
Act, the general discovery principle of eliminating undue litigation surprise is a 
public policy with important application here. The expert medical opinions in 
these MBC administrative hearings go to the heart of the Board's case and are 
partly or entirely dispositive of the result. Litigation surprise regarding this 

74 Business and Professions Code section 2220.1 provided for the appointment of a "Medical Board 
Enforcement Program Monitor" to monitor and evaluate "the disciplinary system and procedures of the board, 
making as his or her highest priority the reform and reengineering of the board's enforcement program and 
operations and the improvement of the overall efficiency of the board's disciplinary system." (Added by Stats. 
2002, c. l 085, (Sen. Bill No. 1950), § 18; repealed by Stats. 2004, c. 909 (Sen. Bili No. 136), § 3, operative Jan. 1, 
2006.) 
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central element of the administrative action disserves all parties to the process and 
the public interest as a whole." 

(Initial Report, Medical Board of California Enforcement Program Monitor, prepared by 
Julianne D'Angelo Fellmeth and Thomas A Papageorge, dated November 1, 2004, at pp. 160-
161.) 

In the wake of the Enforcement Monitor's Initial Report, Senate Bill 231, as amended, 
included a new statute specifically designed to address this problem. That statute, as originally 
introduced, provided that: 

"2334. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of Cali fomia, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any paiiy unless a detailed written report by the 
expert witness, including findings and conclusions of the expert witness, is 
exchanged by the parties in advance of the hearing. The Office of Administrative 
Hearings shall adopt regulations in consultation with the Medical Board of 
California governing the required exchange of expert testimony in these 
proceedings." (Sen. Bill No. 231 (2005~2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended in 
Assembly on June 13, 2005.) 

Thus, as original introduced, the Legislature only required that the disclosure be made "in 
advance of the hearing." As the bill moved through the legislative process, the Legislature 
amended section 2334, never losing sight of its objective to compel the timely production of 
information regarding.expert witnesses. For example, the Legislature eliminated the requirement 
that "a detailed written report" be produced and, instead, required only that the expert testimony 
be "reduced to writing by the expert witness, including findings and conclusions of the expert 
witness, ..." Thus, as later amended in the Assembly, section 2334 then provided: 

"2334. Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of 
expert testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 
testimony shall be permitted by any party unless a--aetailed v,ritten report it is 
reduced to writing by the expert witness, including findings and conclusions of 
the expert witness, is exchanged by the parties in advance of the hearing. The 
Office of Administrative Hearings shall adopt ·regulations in consultation with the 
Medical Board of California governing the required exchange of expe1i testimony 
in these proceedings." (Sen. Bill No. 231 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as 
amended in Assembly on July 11, 2005.) 

Then, on August 30, 2005, the Legislature abandoned the requirement that the disclosure 
simply be made ,iin advance of the hearing" and, instead, established a specific statutory deadline 
for the production. In this regard, section 2334, as amended, stated: · 

"2334. (a} Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of expert 
testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert testimony shall be 
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perrni tted by any party unl es 

1Medical Board of Galifo1nia go1, smin,, the required exehano:e of ekpert testimony in these 
proceeding::,. the.following in.formation is exchanged in written.form with counsel/or the other 
party, as ordered by the Office a/Administrative Hearings: 

(]) A curriculum vitae setting.forth the qualifications ofthe expert. 

(2) A briefnarrative statement ofthe general substance ofthe testimony the expert is 
expected to give, including any opinion testimony and its basis. 

(3) A representation that the expert has agreed to testify at the hearing. 

(4) A statement ofthe expert's hourly and daily.fee.for providing testimony and for 
consulting with the party how retained his or her services. 

(b) The exchange ofthe information described in subdivision (a)shall be completed at 
least 30 calendar days prior to the commencement date ofthe hearing. 

(c) The Office ofAdministrative Hearings may adopt regulations governing the required 
exchange ofthe information described in this section. "· 
(Sen. Bill No. 231 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 12, as amended in Assembly on August 30, 2005.) 

This would remain the statutory production deadline throughout the remainder of the 
· legislative process (see Sen. Bill No. 235 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) § 11, as amended on 
Septernber.2, 2005) and ultimate approval by the Governor on October 7, 2005 (see Bus. & Prof. 
Code, § 2334). Thus, subsequent amendments to Senate Bill 231 confirm the Legislature's 
explicit rejection of the requirement that the expert witness disclosures be made simply "in 
advance of the hearing" and, instead, its intention that such disclosures shall be made "at least 30 
calendar days prior to the commencement date of the hearing." (Cf. Cooper v. Swoap (1974) 11 

. Cal.3d 856, 864-865 [Legislature's direct consideration and explicit rejection of proposal to 
reduce grants of AFDC recipients sharing housing with an adult aid recipient an "unambiguous 
indicant oflegislative intent"]; see also Martin v. Szeto (2004) 32 Cal.4th 445,450 [subsequent 
amendments to bill cited as clarifying legislative intent].) 

Permitting OAH to order the required expert witness disclosures to be made less than 30 
calendar days prior to commencement of the hearing was included in an earlier version of Senate 
Bill 231 that was explicitly rejected by the Legislature and, thus, to pennit it now would be 
entirely inconsistent with legislative intent. (Cf Cooper v. Swoap (1974) 11 Cal.3d 856, 864-
865 [Legislature's direct consideration and explicit rejection of proposal to reduce grants of 
AFDC recipients sharing housing with an adult aid recipient an "unambiguous indicant of 
legislative intent").) 
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13. The board finds that the obligation of both parties to make the required exchange 
of expert witness infonnation by the statutory deadline set by the Legislature in section 2334 (b), 
is mandatory, not merely directory. (Business and Professions Code Sections 8, l 9) This is also 
consistent with case law: 

11 
••• 'Time limits are usually deemed to be directory unless the Legislature clearly 

expresses a contrary intent. 1 (Id. at p. l 145.) For example, if the statute attaches 
consequences or penalties to the failure to observe time limits, the statute is 
construed as mandatory. (County ofSacramento v. Insurance Co. ofthe West 
(1983) 139 Cal.App.3d 561, 565-566; see also Edwards v. Steele, supra, 25 
Cal.3d at p.41 O.)" (Matus v. Board o,/Administration (2009) 177 Cal.App.4th 
597, 608-609.) 

14. In the proposed decision, the administrative law judge construed section 2334 as 
affording both OAH and the administrative law judge a me~sure of discretion with regard to the 
remedy for non-compliance to be applied in a given case, depending on the totality of the 
circumstances. 

(a) The board finds, using well-settled rules of statutory construction, that an 
interpretation granting discretion as to whether to impose the statutory remedy of exclusion is 
inconsistent with the legislative intent underlying the statute, would defeat (ra.ther than promote) 
the statute's general purpose and would lead to absurd consequences. 

"In construing a statute, our fundamental task is to ascertain the Legislature's 
intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the statute. (Day v. City ofFontana 
(200 I) 25 Cal.4th 268, 272.) We begin with the language of the statute, giving 
the words their usual and ordinary meaning. (Ibid.) The language must be 
construed 'in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory 
scheme, and we give 'significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an 
act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." ' (People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.4th 
1266, 1276.) In other words, ' "we do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather 
read every statute 'with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so 
that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.' [Citation.]" ' (In re 
Marriage ofHarris (2004) 34 Cal.4th 210, 222.) If the statutory tenns are 
ambiguous, we may examine extrinsic sources, including the ostensible objects to 
be achieved and the legislative history. (Day, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 272.) In 
such circumstances, we choose the construction that comports most closely with 
the Legislature's apparent intent, endeavoring to promote rather than defeat the 
statute's general purpose, and avoiding a construction that would lead to absurd 
consequences. (Ibid.)" (Smith v. Superior Court (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83.) 

Section 2334, subdivision (a), states that: 

"(a) Notwithstanding any other provision oflaw, with respect to the use of expert 
testimony in matters brought by the Medical Board of California, no expert 
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testimony shall be permitted by any party unless the following infom1ation is 
exchanged in written form with counsel for the other party, as ordered by the 
Office ofAdministrative Hearings: ..." (Italics added.) 

The board finds that section 2334 is a self-executing statute in the sense that it applies in 
all Medical Board cases, regardless of whether OAH orders the parties to comply with its 

· provisions or not. 75 In this regard, section 2334 is similar to a statute of limitations (see, e.g., 
Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 2230.5) which applies whether or not the parties are ordered to comply 
with its provisions. 

To interpret the phrase "as ordered by the Office of Administrative Hearings" as 
requiring an OAH order before the statute could apply in Medical Board cases would violate the 
general rules of statutory construction cited above. It would also lead to the absurd consequence 
of section 2334 applying in those Medical Board cases where OAH has issued an order requiring 
compliance with its provisions but not to those cases where OAR has not issued such an order. 

· Here, the phrase "as ordered by the Office of Administrative Hearings" is more 
appropriately read as referring to an order from OAH prohibiting expert testimony offered by a 
party whenever it has been determined that the party has failed to comply with the expert witness 
disclosure requirements of section 2334 by the statutory deadline. Without such an order from 
OAH:, the statutory penalty fixed by the Legislature for violation of section 2334 could ·never be 
imposed. This reading is also consistent with other prescribed duties and responsibilities of 
administrative law judges under the APA, including thoseprovisions requiring an administrative 
law judge to issue orders and decisions. (See,e,g,, Gov. Code,§§ 1151 LS1 subd. (e) ['"fh1/ 
administrative law judge shall is8Ue a prehearingConferenceQrder incorporating the m~tt§l's 
determined at the prehearing confere11ce,.. ' '];~ll5l7[?Jfa oontesteclcaseisoriginally\~d 
by an administrative law judge alone,he ofiji.ie sl)ailpt~pare,, .. apropos«idecisiortin AIDntl 
that may be adopted by the agency as the firiff.ldecision in the case.''].) Tlle Legislature w.fl$ 
presumed to be aware of existingJaw (here, tlle.El13.thority ofanadministrative law judget.gissue 
orders) when it required an order from OAHtoimpose thematutorily requiredpenalty fbrfttilure 
to comply with the requirements of sectio.112334, (Ptople v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764,775) 

(b) "The most basic principle ofstatutory constf'llctionis thatoourts must give effect 
to statutes according to the ordinary imp011 ofthe languageused in frami,µ,g them." (People v. 
Herman (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 1369, 1380-1391, internal qu.otes and citation omitted.) "If there 
is no ambiguity in the language of th isp1'esµmed to have meant 
what it sa:id, and the plain meaning anguage governs. , (Id. i at p.138], internal quotes and 
citations omitted.) Here, there 1s no ambiguity regarding the penalty to be in1posed for a 
viu]ation of .:;ecr1,,n 2334. ; cgisJaturc ha.s :nadc a policy to fix penalty as 

usiou uf tlic tcslimo:1y. 

75 wh•,,,,JTh ... h · f ··1· · d ·· h · ue 'Ji> ·1 as reporteclly uegun t e practice o routme y 1ssurng or ers regwnng t e parties to comp y 
w:th the provisior,, of section 2334, tss,.wnce of such nrders are not required since section ~':D4 is otherwise 

':c;ablc rn iv1c:,:i:,:.c,' P,;)ard case:;, ofwtwth_:: ClAlI (Hdcrs th,· ,::1:t1cs lo not. Such ','T 

th)\'/,.·ver, serve a "'·":,:.tl purpose by to crisurc t:::>.:. ~cctwn 233d Ju_: nut becon1c :, for the lHJ\\:;, ·; 
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The board finds that OAH lacks the authority to refuse to impose the legislatively 
mandated penalty of exclusion where a party has failed to comply with the requirements of 
section 2334. Whenever it has been determined that a party in a Medical Board case has violated 
the expert witness disclosure requirements of section 2334, either by failing to disclose the 
information specified in section 2334, subdivision (b), and/or failing to make the required 
disclosures by the statutory deadline contained in section 2334(c), section 2334(a) requires that 
an order be issued prohibiting that party from presenting the proffered expert testimony in the 
case. 76 

The board notes that the conclusion expressed above applies equally to botboomp,llinnnt 
and respondent. Based upon its review of the record (Exh. 29 in particular), the board urj~.poth 
parties in future cases to be diligent in fully complying with Section 2334 in order to.fufntlthe 
purposes of the statute. 

What constitutes compliance with Section 2334(a)(2)? Merely listing topics bt subjects 
that the expert witness will testify about, without disclosing the general substance of the expert's 
anticipated testimony, the actual expert opinions he/she will testify to, and the basis for each of 
those opinions, is plainly insufficient and would clearly violate the statutory requirements of 
section 2334. A "briefnarrative statement,, of the "general substance" of the ·expert's testimony 
means a short narrative statement that provides the main features of the testimony-·the essential 
nature of the testimony to be proffered. The statement must include any opinion to be presented 
and the basis for that opinion. By wayt,f euto w~jllil~eptaijlj, tailt:enfrQtnthe 
record in this matter: A party merely s ... . that 'art exp~ wiU testifyHwhcther 
Respondent can practice medicine st\fd~; ~W'l'le~erthe.~ffllll~S ~U,nqil'lg 
Respondent's use of medication constiMed ~~afunpromsm<:1T1al ~duct as aUcgeo,'' This 
natTative does not state what expert gpipion~ill a~ly be proffered (i.e. th.at respqpdet;lt can 
practice medicine safely and that respontten(s us,e 0:fmed.io.atwt1 is notgeJtteral uripn:,fessioiial 
conduct). Nor does it describe whatsoever thibasis for that opinion. This is simply insufficient. 

Statutqry Authority 

15. Business and Professions Co4,e section 2227 provides in part: 

"(a) A licensee whose matter has boon heard by an administrative law judge ·of 
the Medical Quality Hearing Panel as_designated in Section 11371 ofthe 

76 Administrative disciplinary proceedings that are commenced by the issuance of an interim order of 
suspension (ISO) under Government Code section 11529 constitute an exception to the otherwise applicable 
provisions of section 2334. In ISO cases, the filing of the accusation and subsequent hearing are necessarily 
expedited (Gov. Code,§ 11529, subd. (f)) and, as a result, the hearing may be scheduled such that is impossible for 
the parties to comply with the expert witness disclosure requirements of section 2334 by the statutory deadline set 
by section 2334, subdivision (c). Compliance with section 2234 is excused when it is impossible to comply. (See 
e.g., McKenzie v. City ofThousand Oaks (I 973) 36 Cal.App.3d 426, 430 [compliance with procedural statute may 
be excused when it is "impracticable, impossible or futile" to comply].) 
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Government Code, or whose default has been entered, and who is found guilty, or 
who has entered into a stipulation for disciplinary action with the division, may, 
in accordance with the provisions of this chapter: (1) Have his or her license 
revoked upon order of the division. (2) Have his or her right to practice 
suspended for a period not to exceed one year upon order of the division. (3) Be 
placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring upon 
order of the division. (4) Be publicly reprimanded by the division. (5) Have 
any other action t"aken in .relation to discipline as part of an order of probation, as 
the division or an administrative law judge may deem proper." 

16. Business and Professions Code section 822 provides: 

"If a licensing agency determines that its 1icentiate1s ability to practice his or her 
profession safely is impaired because the licentiate is mentally ill, or physically ill 
affecting competency, the licensing agency may take action by any one of the 
following methods: 

(a) Revoking the licentiate's certificate or license. 
(b) Suspending the licentiate1s right to practice. 
(c) Placing the licentiate on probation. 
(d) Taking such other action in relation to the licentiate as the licensing agency 

in its discretion deems proper. 

The licensing agency shall not reinstate a revoked or suspended certificate or 
license until it has received competent evidence of the absence or control of the 
condition which caused its action and until it is satisfied that with due regard for 
the public health and safety the person's right to practice his or her profession may 
be safely reinstated." 

17. Business and Professions Code section 2239 provides in pertinent part: 

"(a) The use or prescribing for or administering to himself or herself, of any 
controlled substance; or the use of any of the dangerous drugs specified in Section 
4022, or of alcoholic beverages, to the extent, or in such a manner as to be 
dangerous or injurious to the licensee, or to any other person or to the public, or to 
the extent that such use impairs the ability of the licensee to practice medicine 
safely or more than one misdemeanor or any felony involving the use, 
consumption, or self-administration of any of the substances refen-ed to in this 
section, or any combination thereof, constitutes unprofessional conduct. The 
record of the conviction is conclusive evidence of such unprofessional conduct." 

18. Business and Professions Code section 2234 provides in part: 

"The Division of Medical Quality shall take action against any licensee who is 
charged with unprofessional conduct. . " 
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Final Conclusions 

19. To.summarize the foregoing authority in the context of this proceeding, 
disciplinary action may be taken against respondent only if complainant has established by clear 
and convincing evidence that: (i) Respondent's ability to practice medicine is impaired because 
of a mental illness or a physical illness affecting competency; (ii) respondent used prescription 
medication and/or alcohol in such a manner as to be dangerous to herself or others, or to the 
extent that her ability to practice medicine was impaired; or (iii) respondent engaged in 
unprofessional conduct by virtue of either of the above. 77 

20. By reason of Factual Findings 1 through 59 and Legal Conclusions 1 through 19, 
and based on the applicable burden of proof, it is concluded that: 

a. Respondent's ability to practice medicine is not impaired because of a 
mental illness or a physical illness affecting competency, pursuant to section 822. In reaching 
this conclusion, section 822 is construed to involve a present impainnent on the part of a 
physician, i.e., that a physician may have been impaired at some time in the past is insufficient to 
meet the requirements of section 822. This understariding of section 822 is based both on its 
language ("If a licensing agency determines that its licentiate's ability to practice his or her 
profession safely is impaired") and on the non-disciplinary nature of section 822. No judicial 
authority has been found that addresses this issue, however. 

b. Respondent used presgri;ption medication in such a1nanner as to lle 
dangerous to herself, in violation of section 2239, subdivision(a). In reaclling the conclJ.iairm 
that respondent violated section 2239, · · (a) basep; 9nly on.Ji~ in,ge-Stion ofX~:lli11t on 
December 16, 2002, in a quantity jnexcessortnmJ>:ennfttedlnbefpresoripfion, 
section 2239, subdivision (a) is undersfoodfprequire somesottofh11proptn"t1seOfinedicatfon,. 
such as using more medication than prescrib¢c11using medial'l1ion as prescribed but under 
circumstances where the individual improp~Jygbtained 1nmtiple prescriptioll.S for the purpose of 
abusing the medication, or improper!y comhini~g the use oftt1edication w~th other a.ctiyities 
(such as driving a vehicle). By wayo:fetlnt't~t;a'.physicia:11•s•i:f/'euse•ofmedioationas 
prescribed, without more, is not understood tq'be aviolati6n cifsection 22..39> as such ari 
interpretation of the provision is not requiredbyits language and would seem to raise due 
process issues. No judicial authmity has been found that addresses this issue, however. 

c. Respondent, by viftue of Conclusion 20(b), engaged in unprofessional 
conduct, in violation of section 2234, subdivision (a) . 

.... ,," · · ·· 1·· •;· · ·j' ··c·•· 1 ,·:..• ~. ,,'· ,·q c, '·•n· 1 (·,. 1" 1•·•·:(•··,, ·1 t]· ···· ,,,!.21. ;Lcl..,Oll U I 111<. lilt'.:-''' ; ,.,uUU,,,,11 .J .. , ,.. L,t. 6 d1 .... UL,.. ,~c.c-.l,.!ll.c, .. lh1L,,.,,J 

the board is authorized to take disciplinary action against respondent. W.nether and whaL krnd of- •. 

disciplinary action should be taken is to be considered in the context of the board's highest 

n ,... . , .
I he 11-.., cusall()n oocs 1;,,;_ allc'.gc ,l:l\ ·.:unducl to 1,·1 ,.,tc scctiun 

of cGmplainant'::; ci:iegations uncle:- sections ,S2'.:: and 2239, subdivision (a) 
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priority, the protection of the public. (Bus. & Prof. Code,§ 2001.1.) To the extent not 
inconsistent with this priority, "disciplinary actions shall be calculated to aid in the rehabilitatio11 
of licensees." The Guidelines also state: 

"The Board expects that, absent mitigating or other appropriate circumstances 
such as early acceptance of responsibility and demonstrated willingness to 
undertake Board- ordered rehabilitation, Administrative Law Judges hearing cases 
on behalf of the Board and proposed settlements submitted to the Board will 
follow the guidelines, including those imposing suspensions. Any proposed 
decision or settlement that departs from the disciplinary guidelines shall identify 
the departures and the facts supporting the departure." 

(Medical Board of California Model Disciplinary Orders arid Disciplinary Guidelines, p. 6.) 

22. Respondent contends that even if any of the three causes are sustained in this 
matter, the imposition of probation would constitute unnecessary and unjustified punishment. 
Respondent's argument has a certain force, in that the only conduct found to be grounds for 
discipline is respondent's ingestion of Xanax on December 16, 2002, over six years ago. The 
board is greatly concerned about Respondent's repeated failure to fully appreciate and/or admit 
the extent of her problems. Respondent's state of denial is clearly manifested throughout the 
record. For example, Dr. Endow believed that respondent tended to "minimize her symptoms." 
Dr. Vleugels believed that respondent minimized concerns about her receipt of benzodiazepines 
from two different sources. Indeed, respondent's explanations for her failure reciprocally to 
advise Dr. Endow and Dr. Vleugels, and Dr. Umansky and Dr. Tiffany, of the medications she 
was receiving from the other, seemed casual and to reflect a lack of appreciation as to the 
importance--which, as a physician she of all people should recognize-of advising her health 
care providers of all medication she receives from every source. The same may be said for her 
failure to abide by the opioid contract--her explanation that she did not read the contract again 
reflects a casual attitude on respondent's part, a lack of appreciation for the seriousness of over 
medicating and the potential dangers of these highly potent medications. Further, her answers to 
the two questions on the medical board pre-interview questionnaire can hardly be considered 
"true, complete and accurate," notwithstanding respondent's forced and dubious attempt to 
explain why she answered the way she did. Remarkably, in her letter to the board dated 
September 30, 2008, respondent stated, inter alia, that "I have never had a single problem at 
work or any complaint against me in my personal or professional life." Dr. Sheffner's testimony 
that the PAI results suggested a lack of forthrightness on respondent's part and a tendency to 
minimize areas of less-than-optimum functioning only confirms these other observations. Even 
respondent's own husband stated that respondent was "in denial."78 

II 
II 
II 

78 Though Mark Meoni denied that he had concerns about any medication other than 
Dilaudid, he never denied that he made this statement. · 
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.. ' . 

However, given the age (2002) of the one incident found to be grounds for discipline and 
the lack of subsequent similar incidents, the board concludes that a public reprimand is the 
appropriate penalty under the facts of this case. 

Accordingly, there issues the following: 

ORDER 

Certificate No. A 55229, issued to respondent Jill Siren Meoni, is hereby publicly 
reprimanded. 

This decision shall become effective at 5 p.m. on June 7, 2010. 

IT IS SO ORDERED this ~ d?Y of May, 2010. 
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